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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
 

NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
 
  March 31,   December 31,  

  2011   2010  
ASSETS       
Current Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 9,411,871  $ 15,612,391 
Short term investments   514   512 
Restricted cash   6,403,388   3,381,369 
Accounts receivable trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $381,476 and $210,977, respectively   7,105,917   5,871,474 
Inventories   26,184,008   21,023,388 
Prepaids and other current assets   1,332,198   993,711 

Total current assets   50,437,896   46,882,845 
Property, plant and equipment, net   48,890,745   36,998,241 
Land use rights, net   4,797,728   4,807,834 
Goodwill   36,771,050   27,002,044 
Intangible assets, net   31,767,134   24,466,597 
Other assets   3,145,491   2,867,188 

  $ 175,810,044  $ 143,024,749 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         
Current Liabilities         

Accounts payable  $ 12,403,852  $ 14,286,929 
Accrued liabilities   4,069,767   2,772,019 
Bank loans   4,566,000   3,034,000 
Notes payable   14,700,298   9,568,398 
Current portion of mortgages payable   177,436   - 
Income taxes payable   1,469,991   1,242,911 
Deferred income taxes   619,908   232,075 
Unearned revenues   2,942,080   1,708,280 

Total current liabilities   40,949,331   32,844,612 
Long-term Liabilities         

Deferred income taxes   9,682,923   5,959,508 
Deferred rent liability   29,766   45,489 
Unearned revenues   758,798   282,518 
Mortgages payable   3,604,846   - 
Derivative liabilities   2,834,034   2,571,367 
Amount due related parties   15,259,121   8,301,361 

Total long-term liabilities   32,169,488   17,160,243 
Commitments and Contingencies         
Redeemable Securities         

Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock; 10,582,011 shares designated, liquidation value $1.00 per share;
issued and outstanding 10,190,085 and 10,582,011 shares, respectively, at March 31, 2011 and December 31,
2010   6,424,545   6,532,275 

   6,424,545   6,532,275 
EQUITY         
Shareholders' Equity         

Preferred stock; authorized, 20,000,000 shares Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock liquidation value,
1 share of common stock, $.01 par value; 825,000 shares designated; issued and outstanding, 10,000 shares at
March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010   100   100 

Common stock, $.001 par value, authorized 500,000,000 shares;         
issued and outstanding, 78,570,037 and 64,221,130 shares, respectively,         
at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010   78,570   63,813 

Additional paid-in capital   166,300,575   141,137,522 
Accumulated deficit   (105,680,243)   (95,320,620)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   4,296,735   2,779,066 

Total NeoStem, Inc. shareholders' equity   64,995,737   48,659,881 
Noncontrolling interests   31,270,943   37,827,738 

Total equity   96,266,680   86,487,619 

  $ 175,810,044  $ 143,024,749 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2011   2010  
Revenues  $ 19,641,113  $ 15,833,178 
Cost of revenues   14,294,636   10,851,618 

Gross profit   5,346,477   4,981,560 
         
Research and development   2,913,260   1,300,158 
Selling, general, and administrative   10,424,994   6,289,698 

Operating loss   (7,991,777)   (2,608,296)
         
Other (expense):         

Other expense, net   (262,723)   (164,073)
Interest expense   (852,611)   (8,519)

   (1,115,334)   (172,592)
         
Loss from operations before provision for income taxes and noncontrolling interests   (9,107,110)   (2,780,888)
Provision for income taxes   592,648   502,944 
Net loss   (9,699,758)   (3,283,832)
         
Less - net income attributable to noncontrolling interests   473,233   1,328,653 
Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc.   (10,172,991)   (4,612,485)
         
Preferred dividends   186,633   99,698 
Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders  $ (10,359,624)  $ (4,712,183)
         
Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.14)  $ (0.12)
         
Weighted average common shares outstanding   73,654,165   40,023,386 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2011   2010  
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net loss  $ (9,699,758)  $ (3,283,832)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Common stock, stock options and warrants issued as payment for compensation, services rendered and interest expense   2,018,902   2,055,104 
Depreciation and amortization   2,203,684   767,624 
Amortization of preferred stock discount and issuance cost   676,123   - 
Changes in fair value of derivative liabilities   262,667   - 
Writeoff of in process research and development   927,000   - 
Interest expense   83,207   - 
Charitable contributions paid with common stock   607,363   - 
Bad debt expense   (1,516)   18,550 
Deferred tax liability   (228,352)   (60,622)
Other   -   12,723 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (125,791)   (547,539)
Accounts receivable   (822,776)   210,846 
Inventory   (3,050,771)   (4,595,421)
Unearned revenues   (573,210)   1,027,391 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (2,471,865)   1,813,364 

Net cash used in operating activities   (10,195,093)   (2,581,812)
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Cash received in acquisition of PCT   227,942   - 
Proceeds used in purchasing short term investments   -   (858,179)
Change in restricted cash   (2,625,344)   3,042 
Acquisition of property and equipment   (707,224)   (3,764,324)

Net cash used in investing activities   (3,104,626)   (4,619,461)
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Net proceeds from the exercise of warrants   -   1,750,000 
Net proceeds from issuance of capital stock   3,592,723   6,821,569 
Payment from related party   -   166,847 
Repayment of mortgage loan   (2,320)   - 
Proceeds from bank loan   1,518,000   - 
Proceeds from notes payable   7,249,117   6,603,303 
Repayment of notes payable   (2,277,000)   (3,812,159)
Repayment of debt to related party   (3,000,000)   - 
Payment of dividend   -   (69,455)

Net cash provided by financing activities   7,080,520   11,460,105 
Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates   18,679   - 
Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents   (6,200,520)   4,258,832 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   15,612,391   7,159,369 
Cash and cash equivalents at end period  $ 9,411,871  $ 11,418,201 
         
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         
Cash paid during the period for:         

Interest  $ 34,500  $ 200,482 
Taxes   1,295,800   533,942 

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities         
Acquisition of property and equipment   389,300   - 
Capitalized interest   130,100   84,000 

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities         
Common Stock and Warrants issued with the acquisition of PCT   17,866,200   - 
Common Stock issued pursuant to the redemption of Convertible Redeemable Series E 7% Preferred Stock   783,900   - 
Common Stock issued in payment of dividends for the Convertible Redeemable Series E 7% Preferred Stock   308,700   - 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Note 1  – The Company

NeoStem, Inc. (“NeoStem” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in September 1980 under the name Fidelity Medical
Services, Inc. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located at 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 450, New York, NY 10170. The Company’s telephone number is
(212) 584-4180 and its website address is  www.neostem.com.

 
NeoStem is an international biopharmaceutical company operating in three reportable segments: (i) Cell Therapy – United States; (ii) Regenerative

Medicine – China; and (iii) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China.
 
Through the Cell Therapy – United States segment, NeoStem is focused on the development of proprietary cellular therapies in oncology, immunology and

regenerative medicine and becoming a single source for collection, storage, manufacturing, therapeutic development and transportation of cells for cell based medicine
and regenerative science globally. Within this segment, the Company is a provider of adult stem cell collection, processing and storage services in the U.S., enabling
healthy individuals to donate and store their stem cells for personal therapeutic use. Pre-donating cells at birth or at a younger age helps to ensure a supply of autologous
stem cells should they be needed for future medical treatment.

 
The Company strengthened its expertise in cellular therapies, for its Cell Therapy - United States segment, with its January 19, 2011 acquisition of Progenitor

Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“PCT”), pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the membership interests of PCT, and PCT is now a
wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem. PCT is engaged in a wide range of services in the cell therapy market for the treatment of human disease, including, but not
limited to contract manufacturing, product and process development, regulatory consulting, product characterization and comparability, and storage, distribution,
manufacturing and transportation of cell therapy products. PCT’s legacy business relationships also afford Neostem introductions to innovative therapeutic programs.
Through the PCT acquisition, NeoStem now owns approximately an 80% interest in Athelos, a company developing a T-cell based immunomodulatory therapeutic.
Results from ongoing phase 1 trials will determine the next phase of trials under this program. The Company views the PCT acquisition as fundamental to building a
foundation in achieving its strategic mission of capturing the paradigm shift to cell therapy. (See Note 4)

 
Through its Regenerative Medicine – China segment, in 2009, the Company began several China-based, Regenerative Medicine initiatives including: (i) creating

a separate China-based cell therapy operation, (ii) constructing a stem cell research and development laboratory and processing facility in Beijing, (iii) establishing
relationships with hospitals to provide cell-based therapies, and (iv) obtaining product licenses covering several adult stem cell therapeutics focused on regenerative
medicine.

 
The Company acquired its Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China segment on October 30, 2009, when China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (“CBH”)

merged with and into CBH Acquisition LLC (“Merger Sub”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem, with Merger Sub as the surviving entity (the “Erye Merger”). As
a result of the Erye Merger, NeoStem acquired CBH’s 51% ownership interest in Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Company Ltd. (“Erye”), a Sino-foreign joint venture with
limited liability organized under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. Erye was founded more than 50 years ago and represents an established, vertically-
integrated pharmaceutical business. Historically, Erye has concentrated its efforts on the manufacturing and distribution of generic antibiotic products. In 2010, Erye
began transferring its operations to its newly constructed manufacturing facility. The relocation is continuing as the new production lines are completed and receive
cGMP certification through 2011. The relocation is significantly increasing Erye’s manufacturing capacity.
 
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NeoStem, Inc. and its wholly owned and partially owned subsidiaries and
affiliates as listed below:
 

Entity  Percentage of Ownership  Location
NeoStem, Inc.  Parent Company  United States of America
NeoStem Therapies, Inc.  100%  United States of America
Stem Cell Technologies, Inc.  100%  United States of America
NeoStem (China) Inc.  100%  People’s Republic of China
Qingdao Neo Bio-Technology Ltd.*  *  People’s Republic of China
Beijing Ruijiao Bio-Technology Ltd.*  *  People’s Republic of China
Tianjin Neo Bio-Technology Co., Ltd.*  *  People’s Republic of China
China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (CBH)  100%  United States of America
Suzhou Erye Pharmaceuticals Company Ltd.  51% owned by CBH  People’s Republic of China
Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC (PCT)  100%  United States of America
NeoStem Family Storage LLC  100%  United States of America
Athelos Corporation  80.1% owned by PCT  United States of America
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* Because certain regulations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) currently restrict or prohibit foreign entities from holding certain licenses and controlling
certain businesses in China, the Company created a wholly foreign-owned entity, or WFOE, NeoStem (China), to implement its expansion initiatives in China. To
comply with China’s foreign investment regulations with respect to stem cell-related activities, these business initiatives in China are conducted via Chinese domestic
entities that are controlled by the WFOE through various contractual arrangements and under the principles of consolidation the Company consolidates 100% of their
operations.
 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could
differ from those estimates.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of ninety days or less when purchased.
 
Concentration of Risks:  For the three months ended March 31, 2011, two major suppliers provided approximately 22.7% of Erye’s purchases of raw materials with each
supplier individually accounting for approximately 13.2% and 9.5%.  As of March 31, 2011, the total accounts payable to the two major suppliers represented 17% of
the total accounts payable balance.
 
Approximately 93% of Erye’s revenues are derived from products that use penicillin or cephalosporin as the key active ingredient. These products are manufactured on
two of the eight production lines in Erye’s manufacturing facility. Any issues or incidents that might disrupt the manufacturing of products requiring penicillin or
cephalosporin could have a material impact on the operating results of Erye. Any interruption or cessation in production could impact market sales.
 
Restricted Cash:  Restricted cash represents cash required to be deposited with banks in China as collateral for the balance of bank notes payable and are subject to
withdrawal restrictions according to the agreement with the bank. The required deposit rate is approximately 30 – 50% of the notes payable balance. Such restricted cash
associated with these notes payable is reflected within current assets. In addition, the Company has restricted cash associated with its Series E Preferred Stock, which is
held in escrow and is not available to meet current cash requirements, and is therefore recorded in other assets.
 
Accounts Receivable:  Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts. The Company applies judgment in
connection with establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts. Specifically, the Company analyzes the aging of accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts,
customer concentration and credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in the Company’s customer payment terms. Significant changes in customer
concentrations or payment terms, deterioration of customer credit-worthiness or weakening economic trends could have a significant impact on the collectability of the
receivables and the Company’s operating results. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional allowances may be required. Management regularly reviews the aging of receivables and changes in payment trends by its customers, and
records a reserve when it believes collection of amounts due are at risk.
 
Inventories:  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out basis. The Company reviews its inventory periodically and will reduce
inventory to its net realizable value depending on certain factors, such as product demand, remaining shelf life, future marketing plans, obsolescence and slow-moving
inventories. The Company includes in work in process the cost incurred on projects at PCT that have multiple deliverables and therefore cannot be recognized as
revenue until the project is completed. The Company reviews these projects periodically to determine that the value of each project is stated at the lower of cost or
market.
 
Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
  March 31,   December 31,  

  2011   2010  
Raw materials and supplies  $ 7,257.0  $ 8,043.8 
Work in process   9,423.7   4,792.4 
Finished goods   9,503.3   8,187.2 
Total inventory  $ 26,184.0  $ 21,023.4 

 
Property, Plant, and Equipment: The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Depreciation is computed on the
straight-line method. Repairs and maintenance expenditures that do not extend original asset lives are charged to expense as incurred.
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Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
  Useful Life  March 31, 2011   December 31, 2010  
Building and improvements  25-30 years  $ 19,621.3  $ 6,091.9 
Machinery and equipment  8-12 years   20,396.0   19,387.6 
Lab equipment  5-7 years   1,853.3   716.2 
Furniture and fixtures  5-12 years   632.0   392.5 
Vehicles  8 years   274.8   273.9 
Software  3-5 years   101.1   99.6 
Leasehold improvements  2-3 years   2,835.9   2,109.8 
Construction in progress     6,907.9   10,339.2 
     52,622.3   39,410.7 
Accumulated depreciation     (3,731.5)   (2,412.5)
    $ 48,890.8  $ 36,998.2 
 

The Company’s results included depreciation expense of approximately $1,288.8 for the three months ended March 31, 2011.
 

Erye is constructing a new factory and is in the process of relocating to the new facility as the project is completed. Construction in progress is related to this
production facility which is being built in accordance with the PRC’s Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”) Standard. The Company expects that the construction will
be completed in 2011; however, certain elements of the project have been completed and put into service in 2010. The estimated additional cost to complete construction
will be approximately $2.7 million. No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress until such time the assets are completed and placed into service. Interest
incurred during the period of construction, if material, is capitalized. The Company capitalized $130,100 of interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011
and $629,100 for the three months ended March 31, 2010.
 
Land Use Rights:  According to Chinese law, the government owns all the land in China. Companies or individuals are authorized to possess and use the land only
through land use rights granted by the Chinese government. Land use rights are being recognized ratably using the straight-line method over the lease term of 50 years.
 
Income Taxes:  The Company recognizes (a) the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and (b) deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. The Company continues to evaluate the accounting for
uncertainty in tax positions. The guidance requires companies to recognize in their financial statements the impact of a tax position if the position is more likely than not
of being sustained on audit. The position ascertained inherently requires judgment and estimates by management. As of March 31, 2011, management does not believe
the Company has any material uncertain tax positions that would require it to measure and reflect the potential lack of sustainability of a position on audit in its financial
statements. The Company will continue to evaluate its uncertain tax positions in future periods to determine if measurement and recognition in its financial statements is
necessary. The Company does not believe there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next year.
 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties as a component of income tax expense. Interest and penalties for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
was zero.
 

The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. Federal government and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The statute of limitations has expired on all
consolidated U.S. Federal corporate income tax returns filed through 2006, and the Internal Revenue Service is not currently examining any of the post-2006 returns
filed by the Company.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss):  The accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balance at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in the amount of $4,296,700
and $2,779,100, respectively, is comprised entirely of foreign currency translation adjustments. Comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and
2010 was as follows (in thousands):
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Net loss  $ (9,699.8)  $ (3,283.8)
Other comprehensive income         

Foreign currency translation   1,517.7   13.2 
Total other comprehensive income   1,517.7   13.2 
Comprehensive loss   (8,182.1)   (3,270.6)

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests   1,216.9   1,335.1 
Comprehensive loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (9,399.0)  $ (4,605.7)

 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:  Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of identified net assets of businesses acquired. The Company’s
intangible assets with an indefinite life are related to in process research and development at Erye, as the Company expects this research and development to provide the
Company with substantial benefit for a period that extends beyond the foreseeable horizon. Amortized intangible assets consist of Erye’s customer list, manufacturing
technology, standard operating procedures, tradename, lease rights and patents, as well as patents and rights associated primarily with the VSEL  TM  Technology. These
intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their respective useful lives.
 

The Company reviews goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for possible impairment. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are
reviewed for possible impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting
unit below its carrying value. The Company tests its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for its Cell Therapy – United States, Regenerative Medicine – China,
and its Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China reporting units on October 31. The Company reviews the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
utilizing a discounted cash flow model, and, where appropriate, a market value approach is also utilized to supplement the discounted cash flow model. The Company
makes assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows, discount rates, long-term growth rates and market values to determine each reporting unit’s estimated fair
value. If these estimates or related assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required to record impairment charges.
 
Derivatives:  Derivative instruments, including derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, are recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability
measured at its fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognized currently in results of operations unless specific hedge accounting criteria
are met. The Company has not entered into hedging activities to date. As a result of certain financings (see Note 8), derivative instruments were created that are
measured at fair value and marked to market at each reporting period. Changes in the derivative value are recorded as other income (expense) on the consolidated
statements of operations.
 
Evaluation of Long-lived Assets:  The Company reviews long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. If other events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset that the Company expects to hold and use may not be recoverable, the Company will estimate the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset or its eventual disposition, and recognize an impairment loss. The impairment loss, if determined to be necessary, would be measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
 
Share-Based Compensation:  The Company expenses all share-based payment awards to employees and consultants, including grants of stock options, warrants, and
restricted stock, over the requisite service period based on the grant date fair value of the awards. For awards with performance-based vesting criteria, the Company
estimates the probability of achievement of the performance criteria and recognizes compensation expense related to those awards expected to vest. The Company
determines the fair value of certain share-based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which uses both historical and current market data to estimate the
fair value. This method incorporates various assumptions such as the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, expected dividend yield and expected life of the options
or warrants. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date
of grant. See Note 9.
 
Earnings Per Share:  Basic loss per share is based on the weighted effect of all common shares issued and outstanding, and is calculated by dividing net loss attributable
to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share, which is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to
common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares used in the basic earnings per share calculation plus the number of common shares that would
be issued assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding, is not presented as such potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive in all periods
presented. For the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company incurred net losses and therefore no common stock equivalents were utilized in the
calculation of earnings per share. At March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company excluded the following potentially dilutive securities:
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  March 31,  
   2011   2010  
Stock Options   15,080,095   10,065,574 
Warrants   25,129,066   17,762,611 
Series C Preferred Stock, Common stock equivalents   -   9,086,124 
Series E Preferred Stock, Common stock equivalents   5,149,889   - 
 
Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue from pharmaceutical and pharmaceutical intermediary product sales when title has passed, the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the fee is fixed and determinable, and the collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured which is
at the time of delivery. The Company recognizes revenue for its cell development and manufacturing services based on the terms of individual contracts.  In certain
cases, there are multiple elements that cannot be considered separate deliverables and therefore the Company recognizes revenue on a completed contract basis for these
arrangements.  In other cases, the Company is paid for time and materials or for fixed monthly amounts and revenue is recognized when efforts are expended or
contractual terms have been met.  The Company recognizes revenue related to the collection and cryopreservation of cord blood and autologous adult stem cells when
the cryopreservation process is completed which is twenty four hours after cells have been collected. Revenue related to advance payments of storage fees is recognized
ratably over the period covered by the advanced payments. The Company earns revenue, in the form of license fees, from physicians seeking to establish autologous
adult stem cell collection centers. These license fees are typically billed upon signing of the collection center agreement and qualification of the physician by the
Company’s credentialing committee and at various times during the term of license agreement based on the terms of the specific agreement. These fees are recognized as
revenue ratably over the appropriate period of time to which the revenue element relates. The Company also receives licensing fees from a licensee for use of its
technology and knowledge to operate an adult stem cell banking operation in China, which licensing fees are recognized as revenues ratably over the appropriate period
of time to which the revenue element relates. In addition, the Company earns royalties for the use of its name and scientific information in connection with its License
and Referral Agreement with Ceregenex Corporation, which royalties are recognized as revenue when they are received.
 
Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were comprised of the following (in thousands):
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Revenues       

Prescription drugs and intermediary pharmaceutical products  $ 18,141.8  $ 15,771.3 
Stem cell related service revenue   1,499.3   61.9 

  $ 19,641.1  $ 15,833.2 

 
Fair Value Measurements:  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported are defined as the exchange price that would be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market at the measurement date (exit price).
The Company is required to classify fair value measurements in one of the following categories:
 

Level 1 inputs which are defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access
at the measurement date.
 

Level 2 inputs which are defined as inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or
indirectly.
 

Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may
affect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.
 

The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in short term investments, which are considered trading securities, to be level 1 inputs measured by
quoted prices of the securities in active markets. The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in money market funds to be level 1. The Company
determined the fair value of the embedded derivative liabilities and warrant derivative liabilities to be level 3 inputs. These inputs require material subjectivity because
value is derived through the use of a lattice model that values the derivatives based on probability weighted discounted cash flows. The following table sets forth by
level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2011, and
December 31, 2010 (in thousands):
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  March 31, 2011  
  Fair Value Measurements Using Fair Value Hierarchy  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Money market investments  $ 2,501.3  $ -  $ - 
Short term investments   0.5   -   - 
Embedded derivative liabilities   -   -   2,466.8 
Warrant derivative liabilities   -   -   367.3 
 
  December 31, 2010  
  Fair Value Measurements Using Fair Value Hierarchy  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Money market investments  $ -  $ 2,501.0  $ - 
Short term investments   0.5   -   - 
Embedded derivative liabilities   -   -   2,281.8 
Warrant derivative liabilities   -   -   289.6 
 

Subsequent to December 31, 2010 the Company reevaluated the characteristics of the money market savings account, currently recorded as other assets, and
determined it is not tied to underlying securities and has been reclassified to level 1.
 

For those financial instruments with significant Level 3 inputs, the following table summarizes the activity for the three months ended March 31, 2011 by type of
instrument (in thousands):
 

Description  
Embedded
Derivatives   Warrants  

Ending liability balance, December 31, 2010  $ 2,281.8  $ 289.6 
Changes in fair value recorded in earnings   185.0   77.7 
         
Ending liability balance, March 31, 2011  $ 2,466.8  $ 367.3 

 
Some of the Company’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, but are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due to

their liquid or short-term nature, such as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, notes payable, bank loans, and amount due
related parties.
 
Foreign Currency Translation:  As the Company’s Chinese pharmaceutical business is a self-contained and integrated entity, and the Company’s Chinese stem cell
business’ future cash flow is expected to be sufficient to service its additional financing requirements, the Chinese subsidiaries’ functional currency is the Renminbi
(“RMB”), and the Company’s reporting currency is the US dollar. Results of foreign operations are translated at the average exchange rates during the period, and assets
and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of each reporting period. Cash flows are also translated at average exchange rates for the period, therefore,
amounts reported on the consolidated statement of cash flows will not necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding balances on the consolidated balance sheet.
 

Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and amounted to $4,296,700, and $2,779,100
as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
 
Research and Development Costs:  Research and development (“R&D”) expenses include salaries, benefits, and other headcount related costs, clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing costs, contract and other outside service fees including sponsored research agreements, and facilities and overhead costs. The Company expenses
the costs associated with research and development activities when incurred.
 

To further drive the Company’s stem cell initiatives, the Company will continue targeting key governmental agencies, congressional committees and not-for-
profit organizations to contribute funds for the Company’s research and development programs. The Company accounts for government grants as a deduction to the
related expense in research and development operating expenses when earned.
 
Statutory Reserves:  Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorporated in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are prohibited from distributing their statutory capital and are
required to appropriate from PRC GAAP profit after tax to other non-distributable reserve funds. These reserve funds include one or more of the following: (i) a general
reserve, (ii) an enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bonus and welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative limits (i.e., 50% of the registered capital of the relevant
company), the general reserve fund requires annual appropriation at 10% of after tax profit (as determined under accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC at
each year-end); the appropriation to the other funds are at the discretion of the subsidiaries.
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The general reserve is used to offset extraordinary losses. Subject to approval by the relevant authorities, a subsidiary may, upon a resolution passed by the
shareholders, convert the general reserve into registered capital provided that the remaining general reserve after the conversion shall be at least 25% of the registered
capital of the subsidiary before the capital increase as a result of the conversion. The staff welfare and bonus reserve is used for the collective welfare of the employees
of the subsidiary. The enterprise expansion reserve is for the expansion of the subsidiary’s operations and can also be converted to registered capital upon a resolution
passed by the shareholders subject to approval by the relevant authorities. These reserves represent appropriations of the retained earnings determined in accordance with
Chinese law, and are not distributable as cash dividends to the parent company, NeoStem. Statutory reserves are $2,242,000 and $2,234,600 as of March 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively.
 

Relevant PRC statutory laws and regulations permit payment of dividends by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries only out of their accumulated earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. As a result of these PRC laws and regulations, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are restricted
in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets either in the form of dividends, loans or advances. The restricted amount was $214,900 at March 31, 2011 and
$214,200 at December 31, 2010.
 
Note 3 – Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In January 2010, the FASB amended the existing disclosure guidance on fair value measurements, which was effective January 1, 2011, for disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. Since the amended guidance requires only additional
disclosures, the adoption of the provisions did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
 

In March 2010, the FASB issued guidance which allows the milestone method to be used as an acceptable revenue recognition methodology when an
arrangement includes substantive milestones. The guidance provides a definition of substantive milestone and should be applied regardless of whether the arrangement
includes single or multiple deliverables or units of accounting. The guidance is limited to the transactions involving milestones relating to research and development
deliverables. The guidance includes enhanced disclosure requirements about each arrangement, individual milestones and related contingent consideration, information
about substantive milestones and factors considered in the determination. The guidance is effective prospectively to milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, after June 15, 2010. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
 

In April 2010, the FASB issued an update which addresses the accounting for stock options when denominating the exercise price of a share-based payment
award in the currency of the market in which the underlying equity security trades. A share-based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the currency of
market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity securities trades shall not be considered to contain a condition that is not a market, performance, or service
condition. Therefore such an award shall not be classified as a liability if it otherwise qualifies for equity classification. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
 

In December 2010, the FASB issued an update which addresses when to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative
carrying amounts. The update modifies Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts. For those reporting units, an
entity is required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. In determining whether it is more
likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, an entity should consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that impairment may exist. The
qualitative factors are consistent with the existing guidance, which requires that goodwill of a reporting unit be tested for impairment between annual tests if an event
occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. This update is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2010. The Company will evaluate the impact of adopting this pronouncement when it
performs its goodwill impairment test.
 

In December 2010, the FASB issued an update which addresses the disclosure of supplementary pro forma information for business combinations. The update
requires public entities to disclose pro forma information for business combinations that occurred in the current reporting period, including revenue and earnings of the
combined entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of
the annual reporting period. If comparative financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the comparable prior
reporting period should be reported as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the current year had been as of the beginning of the
comparable prior annual reporting period. Amendments in this update are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. The Company has adopted this update and applied the disclosure
requirements in connection with the PCT Merger (See Note 4).
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Note 4 – Acquisitions
 

On January 19, 2011 (the “Closing Date”), NBS Acquisition Company LLC (“Subco”), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem, merged (the “PCT
Merger”) with and into Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“PCT”), with PCT as the surviving entity, in accordance with the terms of
the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 23, 2010 (the “PCT Merger Agreement”), among NeoStem, PCT and Subco.  As a result of the consummation of
the PCT Merger, NeoStem acquired all of the membership interests of PCT, and PCT is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem.  
 

Founded by Dr. Andrew L. Pecora and Robert A. Preti, Ph.D., PCT became an internationally recognized cell therapy services and development company.  They
sought to create a business for “as needed” development and manufacturing services for the emerging cell therapy industry and to prepare for eventual
commercialization.  With its cell therapy manufacturing facilities and team of professionals, PCT offers a platform that can facilitate the preclinical and clinical
development and commercialization of cellular therapies for clients throughout the world.  PCT offers current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)-compliant cell
transportation, manufacturing, storage, and distribution services and supporting clinical trial design, product process development, logistics, regulatory and quality
systems development services.  In addition, through its network of contacts throughout the cell therapy industry, PCT is able to identify early stage development
opportunities in the cell therapy field and opportunistically develop these cell therapies through proof of concept where they can be further developed and ultimately
commercialized through NeoStem’s developing commercial structure. Dr. Preti now serves as PCT's President and Dr. Pecora as part-time Chief Medical Officer of
PCT.   
 

PCT is engaged in a broad range of services in the cell therapy market for the treatment of human disease, including but not limited to contract manufacturing,
product and process development, product and regulatory consulting, and product characterization and comparability.  PCT’s expertise in the cell therapy space, which
includes therapeutic vaccines (oncology), various related cell therapeutics, cell diagnostics, and regenerative medicine, creates a platform upon which NeoStem intends
to build a therapeutics strategy.  NeoStem’s goal is to develop internally, or through partnerships, allogeneic (cells from a third-party donor) or autologous (cells from
oneself) cell therapeutics technologies that, in the aggregate, will comprise the Cell Therapy – United States reportable segment.
 

In addition, PCT will assume NeoStem’s adult stem cell business based on PCT’s strategic advantages in meeting cGMP regulatory requirements in an industry
that is widely dispersed with a range of quality issues.  NeoStem believes that PCT, as a quality leader, is ideally positioned to become a leader in cell collection,
processing and storage (cell banking) which is synergistic with NeoStem’s roots in this business.  In addition, PCT’s leadership in the transportation and distribution of
cell therapy products is complementary to NeoStem’s strategic vision of working with the industry leader as the partner of choice.  These efforts are being bundled
together into a new service with PCT’s cord blood banking business into a multigenerational stem cell collection and storage plan that the Company will call the “Family
Plan”.
 

Pursuant to the terms of the PCT Merger Agreement, all of the membership interests of PCT outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the PCT
Merger (the “Effective Time”) were converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate, (i) 10,600,000 shares of the common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of
NeoStem (the “NeoStem Common Stock”) (reflecting certain final price adjustments agreed to at the closing) and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate 3,000,000 shares
of NeoStem Common Stock as follows:
 
 (i) common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock, exercisable over a seven year period at an

exercise price of $7.00 per share (the “$7.00 Warrants”), and which will vest only if a specified business milestone (described in the PCT Merger
Agreement) is accomplished within three (3) years of the Closing Date of the PCT Merger; and

 
 (ii) common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock exercisable over a seven year term at an exercise

price of $3.00 per share (the “$3.00 Warrants”); and
 
 (iii) common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock exercisable over a seven year period at an

exercise price of $5.00 per share (the “$5.00 Warrants” and, collectively with the $7.00 Warrants and the $3.00 Warrants, the “Warrants”).
 

The Warrants are redeemable in certain circumstances.  Transfer of the shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants is restricted until the one year anniversary
of the Closing Date.
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In accordance with the PCT Merger Agreement, NeoStem has deposited into an escrow account with the escrow agent (who is initially NeoStem’s transfer agent),
10,600,000 shares of NeoStem Common Stock for eventual distribution to the former members of PCT (subject to downward adjustment to satisfy any indemnification
claims of NeoStem, all as described in the PCT Merger Agreement).  
 

The issuance of NeoStem securities in the PCT Merger was approved at a special meeting of shareholders of NeoStem held on January 18, 2011 (the “NeoStem
Special Meeting”), on which date the PCT Merger was also approved at a special meeting of members of PCT.
 

The fair value of the net assets acquired in the PCT Merger was $8,186,200. The fair value of the equity issued as consideration by NeoStem was valued at
$17,866,200 resulting in the recognition of goodwill in the amount of $9,680,000. The fair value of the equities issued by NeoStem included 10,600,000 shares of
NeoStem Common stock valued at $15,900,000 and NeoStem warrants to purchase up to 3,000,000 shares valued at $1,966,200. A portion of the consideration paid is
contingent upon the accomplishment of a certain milestone for the $7.00 warrant. Such contingent consideration has been classified as equity and will not be subject to
remeasurement. The goodwill that has been created by this acquisition is reflective of values and opportunities of utilizing PCT’s cell collection, processing and storage
(cell banking) resources and production capacities, as mentioned above. Due to the structure of the transaction, none of the goodwill is expected to be tax deductible.
 
The preliminary fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on January 19, 2011 are as follows:
 
Cash  $ 227,900 
Accounts Receivable   442,400 
Inventory   2,032,800 
Other Current Assets   166,200 
Property, Plant & Equipment   11,858,400 
Intangibles   8,100,000 
Goodwill   9,680,000 
Other Assets   654,100 
     
Accounts Payable   1,370,900 
Other Liabilities   540,500 
Deferred Revenues   2,280,200 
Amount Due Related Party   3,000,000 
Deferred Tax Liability   4,319,600 
Mortgages Payable   3,784,600 
 

The total cost of the acquisition, which is still preliminary, has been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values
at the date of the acquisition.  This estimated purchase price allocation is subject to revision based on additional valuation work that is being conducted.  The final
allocation is pending the receipt of this valuation work and the completion of the Company’s internal review, which is expected during fiscal 2011.

 
For the period since the acquisition (January 19-March 31, 2011), NeoStem recorded $1,426,200 in revenues and a net loss of $1,631,900 or $.02 basic and

diluted loss per share attributable to PCT.
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The following supplemental table presents unaudited consolidated pro forma financial information as if the closing of the acquisition of PCT had occurred on January
1, 2010 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2011   2011   2010   2010  
   (As Reported)   (Proforma)   (As Reported)   (Proforma)  
Revenues  $ 19,641.1  $ 20,023.5  $ 15,833.2  $ 18,629.2 
Cost of revenues   14,294.6   14,619.1   10,851.6   13,702.4 
Gross profit   5,346.5   5,404.4   4,981.6   4,926.8 
Research and development   2,913.3   2,913.3   1,300.2   1,300.2 
Selling, general, and administrative   10,425.0   10,814.2   6,289.7   7,235.1 
Operating loss   (7,991.8)   (8,323.1)   (2,608.3)   (3,608.5)
Other income (expense), net   (1,115.3)   (1,150.2)   (172.6)   (442.5)
Loss from operations before provision for income taxes and noncontrolling interests   (9,107.1)   (9,473.3)   (2,780.9)   (4,051.0)
Provision for income taxes   592.6   473.2   502.9   411.2 
Net loss   (9,699.7)   (9,946.5)   (3,283.8)   (4,462.2)
Less – net income attributable to noncontrolling interests   473.2   473.2   1,328.7   1,328.7 
Preferred dividends   186.7   183.6   99.7   99.7 
Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders  $ (10,359.6)  $ (10,603.3)  $ (4,712.2)  $ (5,890.6)
Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.14)  $ (0.14)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.12)
Weighted average common shares outstanding   73,654,165   75,774,165   40,023,386   50,623,386 
 
The unaudited supplemental pro forma financial information should not be considered indicative of the results that would have occurred if the PCT Merger had been
consummated on January 1, 2010, nor are they indicative of future results.
 

Athelos Corporation (“Athelos”) is a subsidiary of PCT pursuing the development of T regulatory cells (TRegs) as a therapeutic to treat disorders of the immune
system.  Pursuant to a Stock Purchase and Assignment Agreement dated March 28, 2011, Athelos issued approximately 20% of its shares to Becton Dickinson and
Company (“BD”) in exchange for its rights to certain intellectual property relating to TRegs as owned pursuant to the patent license agreement between the University of
Pennsylvania (“Penn”) and BD dated September 28, 2005 (the “Penn License”), and the license agreement between ExCell Therapeutics, LLC and BD dated September
16, 2005, as amended August 31, 2007 (the “Excel License”). Pursuant to the Penn License, BD had exclusive worldwide rights to the TReg patents listed in that
agreement.  As assignee, Athelos will pay Penn a royalty on net sales of licensed products and milestones on initiation of clinical trial stages, license application filings
and regulatory approvals.  In addition, Athelos will pay Penn an annual license maintenance fee.  Pursuant to the ExCell License, BD had exclusive worldwide rights to
the patents referenced therein.  As assignee, Athelos will pay ExCell a royalty on net sales of licensed products and milestones on completion of clinical trial phases, as
well as regulatory approval.  It is the express intent of all parties that the BD assignments to Athelos will be expeditiously replaced with direct licenses between Athelos
and Penn and between Athelos and USC.  Pursuant to the Stockholders’ Agreement dated March 28, 2011, Athelos, PCT and BD have agreed, that, among other things,
BD will have certain anti-dilution protection for the first $5 million of new investment in Athelos and certain  board of directors’ observer rights.   BD has assigned to
Athelos, and Athelos assumed, all rights, title, interest and obligations of BD under a consulting agreement dated as of September 16, 2005 between David Horwitz,
M.D. and BD, to be paid retroactively beginning as of January 1, 2011, for services rendered in advancing the Athelos TReg research and development platform .  PCT
has valued BD’s share of the contributed intellectual properties at $927,000 and characterized this acquired intangible asset as in-process research and development
which has been recorded as expense within research and development expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011.
 
Note 5 – Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment during three months ended March 31, 2011 were as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Cell Therapy -
United States   

Regenerative
Medicine - China   

Pharmaceutical
Manufacturing -

China  
Balance as of December 31, 2010          

 Goodwill  $ 558.2  $ -  $ 27,002.0 
 Accumulated impairment losses   (558.2)   -   - 

   -   -   27,002.0 
Acquisitions*   9,680.0   -   - 
Foreign currency exchange rate changes   -   -   89.0 
 Balance as of March 31, 2011             

 Goodwill   9,680.0   -   27,091.0 
  $ 9,680.0  $ -  $ 27,091.0 

* Goodwill associated with the PCT Merger
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As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consisted of the following (in thousands):

   March 31, 2011   December 31, 2010  

 Useful Life  Gross   
Accumulated
Depreciation   Net   Gross   

Accumulated
Depreciation   Net  

Customer list 10 Years  $ 19,198.5  $ (2,549.1)  $ 16,649.4  $ 17,740.0  $ (2,069.7)  $ 15,670.3 
Manufacturing technology 10 Years   9,634.5   (706.4)   8,928.1   4,220.6   (492.4)   3,728.2 
Tradename 10 Years   2,287.2   (165.5)   2,121.7   983.9   (114.7)   869.2 
In process R&D Indefinite   2,226.9   -   2,226.9   2,219.6   -   2,219.6 
Standard operating procedure 10 Years   1,070.3   (151.6)   918.7   1,066.8   (124.5)   942.3 
Lease rights 2 Years   819.9   (580.8)   239.1   817.2   (476.7)   340.5 
VSEL patent rights 19 Years   669.0   (114.4)   554.6   669.0   (105.6)   563.4 
Patents 8 Years   164.9   (36.3)   128.6   164.3   (31.2)   133.1 
Total Intangible Assets   $ 36,071.2  $ (4,304.1)  $ 31,767.1  $ 27,881.4  $ (3,414.8)  $ 24,466.6 

 
Total intangible amortization expense was classified in the operating expense categories for the periods included below as follows (in thousands):

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Cost of revenues  $ 341.0  $ 101.6 
Selling, general, and administrative   521.7   383.4 
Research and development   13.7   13.6 
Total  $ 876.4  $ 498.6 

 
Estimated intangible amortization expense on an annual basis for the succeeding five years is as follows (in thousands):
 
Years Ending December 31,  Amount  
2011  $ 2,763.0 
2012   3,350.9 
2013   3,274.0 
2014   3,274.0 
2015   3,274.0 
Thereafter   15,831.2 
Total  $ 31,767.1 
 
Note 6– Accrued Liabilities
 
Accrued liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
 

  March 31, 2011   
December 31,

2010  
VAT and other taxes  $ 807.3  $ 126.6 
Amount due on patent infringement   761.0   758.5 
Professional fees   638.1   564.7 
Customer security deposits   440.9   284.8 
Salaries and related taxes   331.4   68.8 
Research and development expenses   321.8   - 
Employee benefits   202.4   141.8 
Utilities   198.6   253.6 
Other   110.3   274.8 
Franchise taxes   78.3   33.3 
Freight insurance   76.5   - 
Employee expenses   47.3   - 
Rent expense   36.4   26.5 
Construction costs   19.5   154.1 
Dividends payable   -   84.5 
  $ 4,069.8  $ 2,772.0 
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Note 7 – Bank Loans, Notes Payable and Mortgages Payable
 
Bank Loans
 

In November 2010, Erye obtained a bank loan of approximately $3,044,000 from the CITIC Bank International with an interest rate of 5.56% and is due in
November 2011.
 

In March 2011, Erye obtained an additional bank loan of approximately $1,522,000 from the China Merchants Bank with a variable interest rate that is
currently 6.06% and is due in September 2011. The interest rate is tied to People’s Bank of China benchmark rate; the maximum interest rate on the loan is 12.00%.
 
Notes Payable

 
Erye has approximately $14,505,900 of notes payable outstanding as of March 31, 2011. Notes are payable to the banks who issue bank notes to Erye’s creditors.

Notes payable are interest free and usually mature after a three to six month period. In order to issue notes payable on behalf of Erye, the banks require collateral, such as
cash deposits which are approximately 30% - 50% of notes to be issued, or properties owned by Erye. Restricted cash pledged as collateral for the balance of notes
payable at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, amounted to approximately $6,024,500 and $3,381,400, respectively.  At March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
the restricted cash amounted to 41.50% and 35.80%, respectively, of the notes payable Erye issued, and the remainder of the notes payable is collateralized by pledging
the land use right Erye owns, which amounted to approximately $4,797,700 and $4,807,800 at March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
 

The Company has financed certain insurance policies and has notes payable at March 31, 2011 of approximately $194,400 related to these policies. These notes
require monthly payments and mature in less than one year.
 
Mortgages Payable
 

On October 31, 2007, PCT issued a note to borrow $3,120,000 (the “Note”) in connection with its $3,818,500 purchase of condominium units in an existing
building in Allendale, New Jersey (the “Property”) that PCT   uses as a laboratory and stem cell processing facility. The Note is payable in 239 consecutive monthly
payments of principal and interest, based on a 20 year amortization schedule; and one final payment of all outstanding principal plus accrued interest then due. The
current monthly installment is $20,766, which includes interest at an initial rate of 5.00%; the interest rate and monthly installments payments are subject to adjustment
on October 1, 2017. On that date, upon prior written notice, the lender shall have the option to declare the entire outstanding principal balance, together with all
outstanding interest, due and payable in full. The Note is secured by substantially all of the assets of PCT, including a first mortgage on the Property and assignment of
an amount approximately equal to eighteen months debt service held in escrow. The Note matures on October 1, 2027 if not called by the lender on October 1, 2017. The
Note is subject to certain debt service coverage and total debt to tangible net worth financial covenant ratios semi-annually. The next measurement period for financial
covenants is June 30, 2011. PCT was not in compliance with such covenants through December 31, 2010, and has obtained a covenant waiver letter from the lender for
all periods through June 30, 2011. The outstanding balance was approximately $2,782,000 at March 31, 2011. On December 6, 2010  PCT Allendale, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of PCT, entered into a note for a second mortgage in the amount of $1 million on the Allendale Property with TD Bank, N.A.  This loan is guaranteed by PCT,
DomaniCell (a wholly-owned subsidiary of PCT, now known as NeoStem Family Storage, LLC), Northern New Jersey Cancer Associates (“NNJCA”) and certain
partners of NNJCA and is subject to a financial covenant starting December 31, 2011. The loan is for 124 months at a fixed rate of 6% for the first 64 months. The loan
is callable for a certain period prior to the interest reset date.   The initial four months is interest only.  The outstanding balance as of March 31, 2011 is $1,000,000.
 
Note 8 – Preferred Stock
 
Convertible Redeemable Series E 7% Preferred Stock
 

On November 19, 2010, the Company sold 10,582,011 Preferred Offering Units consisting of (i) one share (“Preferred Share”) of Series E 7% Senior
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company, (ii) a warrant to purchase 0.25 of a share of Common Stock (an aggregate of 1,322,486
warrants) and (iii) 0.0155 of a share of Common Stock (an aggregate of 164,418 shares). Each Preferred Offering Unit was priced at $0.945 and total gross and net
proceeds received by the Company were $10,000,000 and $8,876,700, respectively.
 

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled to
receive, out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to shareholders, prior and in preference to any distribution of any assets of the Company to the
holders of any other class or series of equity securities, the amount of $1.00 per share plus all accrued but unpaid dividends.
 

Dividends on the Preferred Shares accrue at a rate of 7% per annum and are payable monthly in arrears.  The Company is required to redeem 1/27 of the
Preferred Shares monthly.
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Monthly dividend and principal payments began on March 21, 2011 and continue on the 19th of each month thereafter with the final payment due on May 20,

2013. Payments can be made in cash or, upon notification to the holders, in shares of Company common stock, provided certain conditions are satisfied or holders of
Preferred Shares agree to waive the conditions for that payment period. If the conditions are not satisfied, the Company must make payments in cash. Payments which
are made in stock will be made in shares which are freely tradable. The price of the shares will be calculated based on 92% of the average of the lowest 5 days’ volume
weighted average prices of the 20 trading days prior to the payment date, and the shares are delivered in tranches beginning in advance of the applicable payment
date.  As of March 31, 2011, the Company had issued 838,729 shares of Company common stock in payment of monthly dividends and principal, including required
advanced payments.
 

The Company may pre-pay the outstanding balance of the Preferred Shares in full or in part (in increments of no less than $1,000,000) at 115% of the then
outstanding balance, reducing to 110% after November 19, 2011, with notice of not less than thirty days and adequate opportunity to convert. If the Company chooses to
pre-pay, the outstanding balance must be paid in cash and the premium may be paid in cash or shares of Company common stock.
 

Upon issuance, the Preferred Shares were convertible at an initial conversion price of $2.0004. The conversion price is subject to certain weighted average
adjustments upon the occurrence of specific events, including stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Company’s common stock and if
(with certain exceptions) the Company issues or sells any additional shares of common stock or common stock equivalents at a price per share less than the conversion
price then in effect, or without consideration.  As of March 31, 2011, the conversion price had been adjusted to $1.9787.
 

An aggregate of $2,500,000 of the proceeds from the Preferred Offering was placed in escrow for a maximum of 2.5 years as security for the Company’s
obligations relative to the Preferred Shares, and is included in other assets.
 

The characteristics of the Series E Preferred Stock: cumulative dividends, mandatory redemption, no voting rights, and callable by the Company, require that this
instrument be treated as mezzanine equity. The Company bifurcated the fair value of the embedded conversion options and redemption options from the preferred stock
since the conversion options and certain redemption options were determined to not be clearly and closely related to the preferred stock host. The Company recorded the
fair value of the embedded conversion and redemption options as long-term derivative liabilities as the conversion price is not fixed and the forced redemption option
contains substantial premiums over the stated dividend rate for the preferred stock. The Company also recorded the fair value of the warrants as a long-term derivative
liability as the number of warrant shares and exercise price of the warrants is not fixed. The Series E Preferred Stock was discounted by the fair value of the derivatives
liabilities. The fair value of the preferred stock (net of issuance costs and discounts), the embedded derivatives, and warrant derivative were $6,424,500, $2,466,800 and
$356,600, respectively, as of March 31, 2011.  The Company will report changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives and warrant derivative in earnings within
other income (expense), net. The discount and issuance costs on the preferred stock will be amortized through May 20, 2013 using the effective interest method and will
be reflected within interest expense. As of March 31, 2011, the Company recorded an increase in the fair value of the embedded derivatives and warrant derivative of
$185,000 and $81,300, respectively.
 
Note 9 – Shareholders’ Equity
 
Common Stock:
 

The authorized common stock of the Company is 500 million shares, par value $0.001 per share.
 

On March 3, 2011, the Company consummated a private placement pursuant to which five persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 2,343,750 shares of
Common Stock for an aggregate consideration of $3,000,000 (purchase price $1.28 per share). The investors included Steven S. Myers (one of the Company’s directors)
(who purchased 390,625 shares) and Dr. Andrew L. Pecora (the Chief Medical Officer of the Company’s subsidiary PCT) (who purchased 78,125 shares). On April 5,
2011, we consummated a private placement pursuant to which nine persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 1,244,375 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate
consideration of $1,592,800 (purchase price $1.28 per share), of which approximately $592,700 was received by the Company as of March 31, 2011.
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Warrants:
 

The Company has issued common stock purchase warrants from time to time to investors in private placements and public offerings, and to certain vendors,
underwriters, placement agents and consultants of the Company. A total of 25,129,066 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance upon exercise of outstanding
warrants as of March 31, 2011 at prices ranging from $0.50 to $7.00 and expiring through January 2018.
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued warrants for services as follows ($ in thousands, except share data):
 

  
Number of Common Stock
Purchase Warrants Issued   

Value of Common Stock
Purchase Warrants Issued   

Common Stock Purchase
Warrant Expense Recognized  

   Three Months Ended March 31,    Three Months Ended March 31,    Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010  
                   
Warrants issued for investor relations services   100,000   200,000  $ 114.0  $ 242.7  $ 55.6  $ 126.4 
                         
Warrants issued for consulting services   110,000   275,000   96.3   324.9   99.6   8.1 
                         
Warrants issued for legal services   60,000   52,000   70.6   57.6   17.6   11.3 
   270,000   527,000  $ 280.9  $ 625.2  $ 172.8  $ 145.8 

 
The weighted average estimated fair value of warrants issued for services in the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $1.04. The fair value of warrants at the date of
grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term
is based upon the contractual term of the warrants.
 
The range of assumptions used in calculating the fair values of warrants issued for services during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Expected term (in years)  3 to 5   5  
       
Expected volatility  82% - 86%   107% - 124%  
       
Expected dividend yield  0%   0%  
       
Risk-free interest rate  1.29% - 2.24%  2.30% - 2.65% 
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Activity related to warrants outstanding was as follows:
 

  
Number
of Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Balance at December 31, 2010   21,843,507   2.62     
Granted   3,285,559   4.69     
Exercised   -   -     
Expired   -   -     
Cancelled   -   -     
Balance at March 31, 2011   25,129,066  $ 2.89 4.1  $ 276,880

 
At March 31, 2011, the outstanding warrants by range of exercise prices were as follows:
 
   Warrants Outstanding   Warrants Exercisable  

Range of
Exercise Prices   

Shares Outstanding
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price   

Shares Exercisable
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price  

$ 0.50 to $ 1.99   4,980,702   4.1  $ 1.75   1,473,209   2.7  $ 1.63 
$ 1.99 to $ 2.53   14,540,557   3.4   2.45   13,202,512   4.0   2.49 
$ 2.53 to $ 3.01   1,734,417   4.6   2.90   1,734,417   4.6   2.90 
$ 3.01 to $ 5.01   1,191,511   6.1   4.22   1,191,511   6.1   4.94 
$ 5.01 to $ 7.01   2,681,879   3.5   6.45   1,681,879   1.5   6.13 
     25,129,066   4.1  $ 2.89   19,283,528   3.9  $ 2.93 

 
The total fair value of shares vested for warrants issued for services during the three months ended March 31, 2011 was approximately $108,200.  As of March 31,

2011, there was approximately $313,000 of total unrecognized service cost related to unvested warrants of which approximately $120,700 is related to warrants that vest
over a weighted average life of 0.6 years. The remaining balance of unrecognized service cost of $192,300 is related to warrants that vest based on the accomplishment
of business milestones as to which expense begins to be recognized when such milestones become probable of being achieved.
 
Options:
 

The Company’s 2003 Equity Participation Plan (the “2003 Equity Plan”) permits the grant of share options and shares to its employees, directors, consultants and
advisors for up to 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock as stock-based compensation. The 2009 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2009 Equity Plan”) makes up to
17,750,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance to employees, consultants, advisors and directors of the Company and its subsidiaries
pursuant to incentive or non-statutory stock options, restricted and unrestricted stock awards and stock appreciation rights.
 

All stock options under the 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are granted at the fair market value of the Common Stock at the grant date. Stock options
vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business milestones, and generally expire 3, 5
or 10 years from the grant date depending on the status of the recipient as a consultant, advisor, employee or director of the Company.
 

The 2009 Equity Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on May 8, 2009. On October 29, 2009, the shareholders of the Company
approved an amendment to the 2009 Equity Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder from 3,800,000 to 9,750,000. At
the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase this number to 13,750,000. At a
Special Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on January 18, 2011, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase this number to 17,750,000.
 

The 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are sometimes collectively referred to as the Company’s “U.S. Equity Plan.” The Company’s 2009 Non-U.S.
Based Equity Compensation Plan (“Non-U.S. Equity Plan”) makes up to 8,700,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance. Persons eligible to
receive restricted and unrestricted stock awards, options, stock appreciation rights or other awards under the Non-U.S. Equity Plan are those service providers to the
Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates providing services outside of the United States, including employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries
and affiliates, who, in the opinion of the Compensation Committee, are in a position to contribute to the Company’s success. Options vest either on the date of grant,
ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business milestones, and generally expire 3, 5 or 10 years from the grant date
depending on the status of the recipient as a consultant, advisor, employee or director of the Company.
 

The Non-U.S. Equity Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on October 29, 2009. At the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the
Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder from
4,700,000 to 8,700,000.
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The Company’s results include share-based compensation expense of approximately $1,130,300 and $1,685,600 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively. Options vesting on the accomplishment of business milestones will not be recognized for compensation purposes until such milestones are deemed
probable of accomplishment. At March 31, 2011 there were options to purchase 1,704,928 shares outstanding that will vest upon the accomplishment of business
milestones and will be accounted for as an operating expense when such business milestones are deemed probable of accomplishment.
 

The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted in the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $1.04. The fair value of options at the date of
grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term
is based upon observation of actual time elapsed between date of grant and exercise of options for all employees.
 
The range of assumptions used in calculating the fair values of options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2011   2010  
Expected term (in years)  2 to 6   10  
       
Expected volatility  82% - 85%   122%  
       
Expected dividend yield  0%    0%  
       
Risk-free interest rate  0.80% - 2.53%   3.80%  

 
Activity related to stock options outstanding under the U.S. Equity Plan was as follows:
 

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value  

Balance at December 31, 2010   9,932,214   1.87       
Granted   2,727,100   1.48       
Exercised   -   -       
Expired   -   -       
Cancelled   (679,219)   1.78       
Balance at March 31, 2011   11,980,095  $ 1.79   7.4  $ 883,806 
 
   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  

Range of
Exercise Prices   

Shares Outstanding
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price   

Shares Exercisable
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price  

$ 0.71 to $ 1.89   7,075,100   7.9  $ 1.61   2,758,501   7.8  $ 1.67 
$ 1.89 to $ 1.96   3,009,945   5.6   1.91   2,428,351   5.5   1.91 
$ 1.96 to $ 4.96   1,843,700   8.1   2.10   1,322,867   7.7   2.06 
$ 4.96 to $ 7.01   27,250   4.3   5.60   27,250   4.3   5.60 
$ 7.01 to $ 15.00   24,100   3.7   11.76   24,100   3.7   11.76 
     11,980,095   7.4  $ 1.79   6,561,069   6.9  $ 1.89 
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Activity related to stock options outstanding under the Non U.S. Equity Plan was as follows:
 

  
Number
of Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term   
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value  
Balance at December 31, 2010   3,100,000   2.02       
Granted   -   -       
Exercised   -   -       
Expired   -   -       
Cancelled   -   -       
Balance at March 31, 2011   3,100,000  $ 2.02   9.1  $ 87,000 

 
   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  

Range of Exercise
Prices   

Shares Outstanding
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price   

Shares Exercisable
March 31, 2011   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price  

$ 1.42 to $ 1.65   150,000   9.7  $ 1.42   -   -  $ - 
$ 1.65 to $ 1.93   600,000   9.4   1.65   -   -   - 
$ 1.93 to $ 2.08   1,100,000   8.6   2.04   266,666   8.6   2.04 
$ 2.08 to $ 2.22   650,000   9.2   2.16   150,000   9.2   2.16 
$ 2.22 to $ 2.37   600,000   9.2   2.36   200,000   9.2   2.36 
     3,100,000   9.1  $ 2.02   616,666   8.9  $ 2.17 

 
The total fair value of shares vested during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $378,800 and $1,685,600 respectively.
 
The number of remaining shares authorized to be issued under the various equity plans at March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 

  US Equity Plan   
Non US Equity

Plan  
Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2003 Equity Plan   2,500,000   - 
Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2009 Equity Plan   17,750,000   - 
Shares Authorized for Issuance under Non US Equity Plan   -   8,700,000 
   20,250,000   8,700,000 
Outstanding Options - US Equity Plan   (11,980,095)   - 
Exercised Options   (92,500)   - 
Outstanding Options - Non US Equity Plan   -   (3,100,000)
Restricted stock or equity grants issued under Equity Plans   (2,260,983)   (885,000)
Total common shares remaining to be issued under the Equity Plans   5,916,422   4,715,000 

 
As of March 31, 2011, there was approximately $8,856,900 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested stock option awards of which

approximately $6,383,300 is related to stock options that vest over a weighted average life of 2.22 years. The remaining balance of unrecognized compensation costs of
$2,473,600 is related to stock options that vest based on the accomplishment of business milestones which expense begins to be recognized when such milestones
become probable of being achieved.
 
Note 10 – Income Taxes

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 enacted a complex set of rules limiting the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) to offset future taxable income
following a corporate ownership change. The Company’s ability to utilize its NOL carryforwards is limited following a change in ownership in excess of fifty percentage
points during any three-year period.
 

Since the year 2000, the Company has had several changes in ownership which has resulted in a limitation on the Company’s ability to apply net operating losses
to future taxable income. As of December 31, 2010 the Company has lost $21,973,200, or $7,470,900 in tax benefits, of net operating losses applicable to Federal
income taxes which expired due to these limitations. At December 31, 2010, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $39,590,500 applicable
to future Federal income taxes. The tax loss carryforwards are subject to annual limitations and expire at various dates through 2030. The Company has recorded a full
valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset because it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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Note 11 – Segment Information
 

The Company’s financial information broken down by reportable segment was as follows (in thousands):
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Revenues       

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China  $ 18,141.8  $ 15,774.5 
Cell Therapy - United States   1,449.1   58.7 
Regenerative Medicine - China   50.2   - 

  $ 19,641.1  $ 15,833.2 
Income (loss) from operations         

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China  $ 2,119.5  $ 3,190.7 
Cell Therapy - United States   (3,962.1)   (1,570.2)
Regenerative Medicine - China   (730.1)   (313.4)
Corporate office   (5,419.1)   (3,915.4)

  $ (7,991.8)  $ (2,608.3)
Total assets         

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China  $ 130,355.0  $ 111,709.0 
Cell Therapy - United States   29,825.0   2,031.6 
Regenerative Medicine - China   4,090.7   1,924.8 
Corporate office   11,539.3   6,337.2 

  $ 175,810.0  $ 122,002.6 
 
Note 12 – Related Party Transactions
 
At March 31, 2011, Erye owed EET, the 49% shareholder of Erye, $15,259,100. Included in the amounts owed to EET are:
 
 ● Dividends paid and loaned back to Erye amounting to $14,708,100 and accrued interest of $787,100, the interest rate on this loan is 5.81%. The loan agreement

does not define a fixed repayment date or schedule of payments but does call for repayment after construction of the new manufacturing facility is completed.
 
 ● Non interest bearing advances due from EET of $638,100; and
 
 ● A non interest bearing loan due to EET of $402,000 due 2011.
 

Pursuant to the PCT Merger Agreement, NeoStem agreed to pay off PCT’s credit line with Northern New Jersey Cancer Associates (“NNJCA”), in an amount up to
$3,000,000, shortly after the closing of the PCT Merger. On January 21, 2011, NeoStem paid NNJCA $3,000,000 in full satisfaction of all of PCT’s obligations to
NNJCA arising from the underlying line of credit and security agreement. Dr. Andrew Pecora (who was PCT’s Chairman and CEO prior to the PCT Merger, and who
became PCT’s Chief Medical Officer on January 19, 2011 pursuant to an employment agreement effective upon the closing of the PCT Merger), has served as
Managing Partner of NNJCA since 1996.
 
Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Director Compensation Plan adopted on November 4, 2009, as amended, each non-employee director of the Company, including
directors who are employees of partially owned joint ventures, are entitled to quarterly cash compensation equal to $15,000, payable in arrears. Based on the current
Board structure, this will equal approximately $360,000 annually.
 

As of October 2, 2009, the Company entered into indemnification agreements with its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel, certain
other employees and each of its directors pursuant to which the Company has agreed to indemnify such party to the full extent permitted by law, subject to certain
exceptions, if such party becomes subject to an action because such party is the Company’s director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary.
 

The Company entered into an agreement for the lease of executive office space from SLG Graybar Sublease LLC at Suite 450, 420 Lexington Avenue, New York,
NY 10170 with a lease term effective April 1, 2009 through June 30, 2013. This serves as the Company’s corporate headquarters. The base monthly rent, which includes
storage space, is currently approximately $21,500 per month, scheduled to increase to approximately $22,000 in July 2011. Pursuant to this lease, the Company is
obligated to pay on a monthly basis fixed annual rent and certain items as additional rent including utility payments. The security deposit for this property was
approximately $157,100.
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In September 2009, the Company entered into an agreement for the lease of space from Rivertech Associates II, LLC, c/o The Abbey Group at 840 Memorial Drive,
Cambridge, Massachusetts with a lease term effective September 1, 2009 through August 31, 2012. The space is being used for general office, research and
development, and laboratory space (inclusive of an adult stem cell collection center). The base rent under this lease is currently $29,737 per month, scheduled to increase
to $30,750 per month in September 2011. In addition, the Company is responsible for certain costs and charges specified in the lease, including utilities, operating
expenses and real estate taxes. The security deposit was $84,141. The Company is assessing its need for the Cambridge facility going forward given the acquisition of
PCT with its Allendale, NJ and Mountain View, CA facilities.
 

In May 2009, Neo Bio-Technology, one of the Company’s VIEs in China, entered into leases (assigned to NeoStem (China) in February 2010) with Beijing Zhong-
guan-cun Life Science Park Development Corp., Ltd. pursuant to which NeoStem (China) is leasing laboratory, office and storage space in Beijing for the aggregate
monthly amount of approximately $23,000. Lease payments are due quarterly in advance, and upon entering into the lease a three month security deposit was also paid.
The term of the leases is for approximately three years. The Beijing Facility is located at the Life Science Innovation Center, Life Science Park, Zhongguancum, Beijing.
 

NeoBiotechnology has been leasing office space in Qingdao since August 2009. The current lease is effective through September 2011 at a monthly rent of
approximately $1,300, payable as to half the total lease amount by September 2010 and as to the remaining half in March 2011. NeoBiotechnology is relocating to
Tianjin to take advantage of tax and other concessions that are being made available.
 

In November 2007, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement with UTEK Corporation (“UTEK”) and Stem Cell Technologies, Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of UTEK (“SCTI”), pursuant to which the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding common stock of SCTI in a stock-for-stock exchange. SCTI
contains an exclusive, worldwide license to a technology developed by researchers at the University of Louisville to identify and isolate rare stem cells from adult
human bone marrow, called very small embryonic like stem cells. Concurrent with the SCTI acquisition, NeoStem entered into a sponsored research agreement (“SRA”)
with the University of Louisville under which NeoStem has been supporting further research in the laboratory of Mariusz Ratajczak, M.D., Ph.D. a co-inventor of the
VSEL TM  Technology and head of the Stem Cell Biology Program at the James Brown Cancer Center at the University of Louisville. The SRA, which has been
periodically amended, called for payments in 2008 of $50,000, 2009 of $65,337, and 2010 of $86,068, all of which has been paid and recorded as research and
development expense. An additional $95,128 is payable in 2011 until December 31, 2011, the end of the term.
 

Under a License Agreement entered into with the University of Louisville Research Foundation (“ULRF”) in November 2007, SCTI agreed to engage in a diligent
program to develop the VSEL TM  Technology. Certain license fees and royalties are to be paid to ULRF from SCTI, and SCTI is responsible for all payments for patent
filings and related applications. Portions of the license may be converted to a non-exclusive license if SCTI does not diligently develop the VSEL TM  Technology or
terminated entirely if SCTI chooses to not pay for the filing and maintenance of any patents thereunder. Under the License Agreement, which has an initial term of 20
years, the Company has paid to date approximately $117,000, which has been recorded as research and development expense, consisting of various up-front fees,
including $22,000 in connection with its May 2010 amendment, and is required to pay under the license certain other future fees including: (i) a specified non-
refundable annual license maintenance fee upon issuance of the licensed patent in the United States; (ii) a specified royalty on net sales; (iii) specified milestone
payments; and (iv) specified payments in the event of sublicensing. The License Agreement also contains certain provisions relating to “stacking,” permitting SCTI to
pay royalties to ULRF at a reduced rate in the event it is required to also pay royalties to third parties exceeding a specified threshold for other technology in furtherance
of the exercise of its patent rights or the manufacture of products using the VSEL TM  Technology.
 

In connection with the issuance to investors and service providers of many of the shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase common stock
previously disclosed and described herein, the Company granted the holders registration rights providing for the registration of such shares of common stock and shares
of common stock underlying warrants on a registration statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) so as to permit the resale of those
shares. Certain of the registration rights agreements provided for penalties for failure to file or failure to obtain an effective registration statement. With respect to
satisfying its obligations to the holders of these registration rights, the Company has been in various positions. The Company had previously filed a registration
statement as required for some of the holders, and in May 2011 filed a registration statement for all of the holders (except for holders whose shares of Common Stock are
currently salable under Rule 144 of the Securities Act or who waived certain rights), but to date, such registration statement has not been declared effective by the SEC.
Certain holders who had outstanding registration rights had previously waived their registration rights or were subject to lock-up agreements. No holder has yet asserted
any claim against the Company with respect to a failure to satisfy any registration obligations. Were someone to assert a claim against the Company for breach of
registration obligations, the Company believes it has several defenses that would result in relieving it from some or any liability, although no assurances can be given.
The Company also notes that damage claims may be limited, as (i) most, if not all, shares of Common Stock as to which registration rights attached are currently salable
under Rule 144 of the Securities Act or are otherwise currently subject to other restrictions on sale and (ii) during much of the relevant periods the warrants with
registration rights generally have been out of the money, were subject to lock-up agreements and/or the underlying shares of Common Stock were otherwise subject to
restrictions on resale. Accordingly, were holders to assert claims against the Company based on breach of the Company’s obligation to register, the Company believes
that the Company’s maximum exposure from non-related parties would not be material.
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Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. v Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Hunan Weichu Pharmacy Co., Ltd.   involves a patent infringement
dispute with respect to a particular antibiotics complex manufactured by Erye (the “Product”). The Changsha Intermediate People’s Court in Hunan Province, PRC in the
foregoing case rendered a judgment on May 13, 2010 against Erye as follows: (i) awarding plaintiff Xiangbei Welman damages and costs of approximately 5 million
RMB (approximately $750,000) against Erye which was fully accrued for at March 31, 2011; and (ii) enjoining Erye from manufacturing, marketing and selling the
Product. The Product represented approximately 5% and 1%, respectively, of Erye’s sales for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. Erye has appealed the
court judgment, and is also engaged in settlement negotiations. On March 21, 2011, Changsha Intermediate Court issued a civil decision suspending the execution of the
Preliminary Injunction. Therefore, Erye is currently free to produce, sell or offer to sell the product.
 

On May 19, 2006, PCT entered into a line of credit agreement with Amorcyte Inc. (“Amorcyte”), an entity which was spun out of PCT in 2006, whereby PCT
agreed to loan Amorcyte up to $500,000 at an annual interest rate of 5%.  The line of credit agreement was a condition to Amorcyte closing a Series A Preferred Stock
Financing completed during 2006.  The Company has not loaned any amount to Amorcyte under this agreement through March 31, 2011.  The line of credit agreement
expires on the earlier of (i) the date on which the Company declares the outstanding principal and accrued interest due and payable based on an event of default as
defined within the agreement, or (ii) the date of closing of the first debt or equity financing of Amorcyte following the initial borrowing of the principal. These events
have not occurred to date.
 

In September 2005, PCT entered into a one-year lease directly with Vanni Business Park, LLC, the landlord for the Mountain View, California laboratory space
leasing the entire building. This new lease commenced July 1, 2006, with monthly base rent of $26,275. In July 2006, PCT entered into an agreement to amend this lease
and extended the term through June 30, 2012, for an initial monthly base rent of $33,782 with yearly escalations thereafter.
 

The Company leases office and laboratory facilities and certain equipment under certain noncancelable operating leases that expire from time to time through 2015.
A summary of future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining terms in excess of one year as of March 31, 2011 are as
follows (in thousands):
 

Year ended  
Operating

Leases  
2011  $ 1,772.2 
2012   1,162.9 
2013   317.7 
2014   37.6 
2015   20.2 
Thereafter   28.8 

Total minumum lease payments  $ 3,339.4 

 
Expense incurred under operating leases was approximately $412,600 and $452,500 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
 
Note 14 – Subsequent Events
 

On April 4, 2011, the Company entered into an amendment of its May 26, 2006 employment agreement with Dr. Robin L. Smith, pursuant to which, as previously
amended (the “Agreement”), Dr. Smith serves as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Pursuant to the amendment, (i) the term of the
Agreement was extended from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012; (ii) Dr. Smith will receive cash bonuses on October 1, 2011 and 2012 in the minimum amount
of 110% of the prior year’s bonus; (iii) a failure to renew the Agreement at the end of the term regardless of reason shall be treated as a termination by the Company
without cause; (iv) the Company shall pay Dr. Smith her base salary and COBRA premiums (a) for one year in the event of a termination of the agreement by Dr. Smith
for other than good reason and (b) during any period during which she is bound by non-competition, non-solicitation or similar covenants with the Company (such
payments shall not be made during the time Dr. Smith is also receiving payments under (iii) or (iv)(a)); (v) Dr. Smith was granted an option to purchase 1,500,000 shares
of Common Stock at a per share exercise price equal to the closing price of the Common Stock on the date of the amendment, vesting as to 500,000 shares on each of
the date of grant, December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012; (vi) all other unvested options held by Dr. Smith were immediately vested; (vii) any vested options
previously or hereafter granted to Dr. Smith during the remainder of the term shall remain exercisable following termination of employment for the full option term until
the expiration date; (viii) the Company agreed that, with the exception of the period of time during which Dr. Smith is a Company affiliate and for 90 days thereafter
(during which time any shares owned by or issued to Dr. Smith will bear the Company’s standard affiliate legend), the Company will not place legends on shares on
Common Stock owned by Dr. Smith restricting the transfer of such shares so long as such shares are sold under an effective registration statement, pursuant to Rule 144
or are eligible for sale under Rule 144 without volume limitations; and (ix) if Dr. Smith ceases to be employed by the Company and for so long as she continues to own
shares of Common Stock the sale of which would require that the current public information requirement of Rule 144 be met, the Company will use its reasonable best
efforts to timely meet those requirements or obtain appropriate extensions or otherwise make available such information as is required. Except as set forth in the
amendment, the Agreement remains unchanged.
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On April 4, 2011, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors issued options to purchase an aggregate of up to approximately 2,550,000 shares of
Common Stock to Company employees, officers, advisors and consultants in a company-wide grant. An aggregate of 1,250,000 of such options were issued to executive
officers. The per share exercise price was $1.74, the closing price on the date of grant.
 

On April 5, 2011, the Company consummated a private placement pursuant to which nine persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 1,244,375 shares of
Common Stock for an aggregate consideration of $1,592,800 (purchase price $1.28 per share).
 

Effective May 5, 2011, the Company entered into a sublease (“Sublease”) of a portion of its leased facilities at 840 Memorial Drive, Cambridge, Massachusetts for
a term of 15 months from June 1, 2011 through August 31, 2012. The sublet premises are comprised of approximately 3,500 of the approximately 8,100 square feet
currently under lease to the Company pursuant to its lease with Rivertech Associates II, LLC c/o The Abbey Group effective September 1, 2009 with a term through
August 31, 2012 (“Main Lease”).   Monthly fixed rent under the Sublease is approximately $9,333, and in addition the subtenant pays approximately 43% of certain
items of additional rent for which the Company is responsible under the Main Lease, including operating expenses and real estate taxes, as well as a portion of
utilities.  The security deposit under the Sublease was $18,667.
 
 
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set
forth under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” herein and under ”Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010 . The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in
this quarterly report and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.
 
The Overview
 

NeoStem, Inc. is an international biopharmaceutical company operating in three reportable segments: (i) Cell Therapy — United States; (ii) Regenerative
Medicine — China; and (iii) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing — China.
 

Through the Cell Therapy — United States segment, NeoStem is focused on the development of proprietary cellular therapies in oncology, immunology and
regenerative medicine and becoming a single source for collection, storage, manufacturing, therapeutic development and transportation of cells for cell based medicine
and regenerative science globally. Within this segment, we also are a provider of adult stem cell collection, processing and storage services in the U.S., enabling healthy
individuals to donate and store their stem cells for personal therapeutic use. During 2010, we expanded our network of adult stem cell collection centers to include ten
centers throughout the country.
 

We strengthened our expertise in cellular therapies with our January 19, 2011 acquisition of Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“PCT”), pursuant to which we acquired all of the membership interests of PCT, and PCT is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem. PCT is engaged in a wide
range of services in the cell therapy market for the treatment of human disease, including, but not limited to, contract manufacturing, product and process development,
regulatory consulting, product characterization and comparability, and storage, distribution, manufacturing and transportation of cell therapy products. PCT’s legacy
business relationships also afford NeoStem introductions to innovative therapeutic programs. For example, Amorcyte, a PCT spin-off which is now a NeoStem
customer, has completed a Phase I clinical trial using stem cells to treat post-acute myocardial infarction and is ready to move into Phase II testing. Also, through the
PCT acquisition, NeoStem now owns approximately an 80% interest in Athelos, a company developing a T-cell based immunomodulatory therapeutic. Results from
ongoing Phase 1 trials will determine the next phase of trials under this program. We view the PCT acquisition as fundamental to building a foundation for achieving
our strategic mission of capturing the paradigm shift to cell therapy.
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Through our Regenerative Medicine — China segment, in 2009, we began several China-based, Regenerative Medicine initiatives including: (i) creating a separate

China-based cell therapy operation, (ii) constructing a stem cell research and development laboratory and processing facility in Beijing, (iii) establishing relationships
with hospitals to provide cell-based therapies, and (iv) obtaining product licenses covering several adult stem cell therapeutics focused on regenerative medicine.
 
 

We acquired our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing — China segment when on October 30, 2009, China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (“CBH”) merged with a
wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem (the “Erye Merger”). As a result of the Erye Merger, NeoStem acquired CBH’s 51% ownership interest in Erye, a Sino-foreign
joint venture with limited liability organized under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. Erye was founded more than 50 years ago and represents an established,
vertically-integrated pharmaceutical business. Historically, Erye has concentrated its efforts on the manufacturing and distribution of generic antibiotic products. In
2010, Erye began transferring its operations to its newly constructed manufacturing facility. The relocation is continuing as the new production lines are completed and
receive cGMP certification through 2011. The relocation is significantly increasing Erye’s manufacturing capacity and allowing for growth in line with rising demand as
a result of healthcare reform in China today.
 
 
Results of Operations
 
Three Months Ended March 31, 2011 Compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2010
 
Revenue
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2011, total revenues were $19,641,100 compared to $15,833,200 for the three months ended March 31, 2010. Revenues for
the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were comprised of the following:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Cell Therapy - United States  $ 1,449,100  $ 58,700 
Regenerative Medicine - China   50,200   - 
Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China   18,141,800   15,774,500 
  $ 19,641,100  $ 15,833,200 

 
The increase in revenue for our Cell Therapy – United States reporting unit is due to revenues generated by PCT which was acquired in January 2011.

 
Revenues for our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China reporting unit increased approximately 15%. This increase was due to sales of antibiotics and

cephalosporins and other therapeutic products which increased approximately 22%. The increase was primarily due to Erye’s expanded distribution network, additional
market coverage, and concurrent with the general increase in demand for pharmaceutical products in China; partially offset by the decrease in sales of pharmaceutical
intermediates to other pharmaceutical manufacturers resulting from the strategic decision by Eyre to shift the product mix from lower margin product sales to higher
margin product sales which had the effect of reducing sales growth by 11%.  The balance of the increase year over year of approximately 4% is due to increases in the
exchange rate between the Chinese Yuan and the United States dollar.
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2011 cost of revenue for Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China was approximately $12,606,300 and the balance relates to
Cell Therapy – United States and Regenerative Medicine – China.  For the three months ended March 31, 2010 cost of revenue for Pharmaceutical Manufacturing –
China was approximately $10,821,700 and the balance relates to Cell Therapy – United States and Regenerative Medicine – China.
  

Gross margin for the three months ended March 31, 2011 totaled approximately $5,346,500 of which virtually all is attributable to the sale of pharmaceutical
products. Gross margin for the three months ended March 31, 2010 totaled approximately $4,981,600 of which virtually all is attributable to the sale of pharmaceutical
products. Gross margin for Pharmaceutical Manufacturing – China grew approximately 11.8%, a slightly slower pace than sales growth, primarily as result of the
strategic decision to give up low margin pharmaceutical intermediates and free up capacity for higher margin products in the future and an increase in amortization
expense associated with intangible assets acquired in the Erye merger.

 
Operating Expenses
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2011 operating expenses totaled $13,338,300 compared to $7,589,900 for the three months ended March 31, 2010,
representing an increase of $5,748,400 or 75.7%.
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Historically, to minimize our use of cash, we have used a variety of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for services and to incentivize employees,
consultants and other service providers. The use of these instruments has resulted in significant charges to the results of operations. In general, these equity and equity-
linked instruments were used to pay for employee and consultant compensation, director fees, marketing services, investor relations and other activities. For the three
months ended March 31, 2011 the use of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for such expenses resulted in charges to selling, general, administrative and
research expenses of $2,506,200, representing an increase of $639,700 over the three months ended March 31, 2010.
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2011, our selling, general, and administrative expenses were $10,425,000 compared to $6,289,700 for the three months ended
March 31, 2010, representing an increase of $4,135,300, which was the result of:
 
● The acquisition of PCT increased selling, general and administrative expenses by approximately $693,000.
 
● Our continuing general and administrative expenses increased by approximately $3,099,600.
 
 ● Approximately $1,308,700  of this increased operating expense was related to Erye’s operation which included an increase in taxes of $706,400 which was

related principally to withholding taxes paid on dividends declared in January, 2011 that were retained in the business.  Depreciation expense increased by
approximately $301,800 due to full year impact of the move of the administrative operations to the new plant in 2010. The remainder of the increase was
the result of a variety of increases in administrative activities at Erye.

 
 ● As a result of completing the acquisition of PCT and related and other SEC filings and transactions our expenses associated with the use of our attorneys

increased approximately $374,400 and our auditing expense increased approximately $325,800.
 
 ● Equity compensation to employees, directors and consultants increased approximately $570,300.
 
 ● Administrative expenses for NeoStem China increased approximately $280,700. A majority of this increase was due to an increase in depreciation expense

of $199,300 related to the Beijing facilities. The balance of the increase was primarily related to staff increases.
 
 ● Corporate and headquarters expenses increased approximately $186,300.
 
● Sales and marketing expenses increased by $342,700 over the three months ended March 31, 2010. Approximately $106,700 of this increased operating expense

was related to the sales and marketing efforts of NeoStem China and $266,200 related to amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Erye and PCT
acquisitions.  The use of equity instruments to incentivize staff and pay for services totaled $109,300, a decrease of $46,900 over the three months ended March 31,
2010. 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2011, our research and development expenses totaled $2,912,300 compared to $1,300,200 for the three months ended March

31, 2010, representing an increase of $1,612,100. In March 2011 the Company, through PCT’s subsidiary Athelos, entered into an agreement with Becton,
Dickinson and Company (“BD”) to acquire certain intellectual properties, in the area of T-cell regulation, in exchange for an approximately 20% interest in Athelos. PCT
has valued BD’s share of the contributed intellectual properties at $927,000 and characterized this acquired intangible asset as in process research and development
which has been reflected in research and development expense for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Research and development efforts in the area of cellular
therapy increased approximately $263,600, principally related to staff increases and consulting costs. The use of equity instruments to incentivize research staff totaled
$260,100, an increase of $116,300 over the three months ended March 31, 2010. Research related to our VSEL TM technology increased operating expenses by
$52,100.  Development expenses at Erye added $112,100 of research and development expense to our operating expenses compared to Erye’s first quarter 2010 research
and development expenses. The balance of the increase in research and development expense of $158,000 is related to costs associated with the cost of our research
facility in Beijing.
 
Other Income and Expense
 

During the quarter ended March 31, 2011, the Company recognized interest expense of approximately $852,600 primarily related to amortization of debt discount
of approximately $678,300 associated with the Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock which is being accounted for as mezzanine equity. Interest of
approximately $213,300 was recorded as a result of a loan to Erye from its minority shareholder of which $130,100 was capitalized as part of the cost of construction of
Erye’s new manufacturing plant. In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement that governs the operation of Erye, the minority shareholder has agreed to loan back to
Erye dividends it is entitled to for 2010 and approximately the next two years, to help fund the construction of the new manufacturing facility. As of March 31, 2011,
these loans totaled $14,708,100.  At the present time this loan accrues interest at a rate of 5.81% annually. Interest expense of approximately $34,500 is associated with
bank loans obtained by Erye totaling approximately $4,566,000 at March 31, 2011. Interest recognized on mortgage loans for PCT’s Allendale facility added
approximately $56,000 to interest expense.
 

Other expenses, net totaled approximately $262,700 which primarily related to the revaluation of derivative liabilities that have been established in connection with
the Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock.

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2010 the Company recognized interest expense of approximately $92,500 primarily related to a loan to Erye from its

minority shareholder of which $84,000 was capitalized as part of the cost of construction of Erye’s new manufacturing plant. In accordance with the Joint Venture
Agreement that governs the operation of Erye the minority shareholder has agreed to loan back to Erye dividends to help fund the construction of the new manufacturing
facility.

During the three months ended March 31, 2010,  in connection with RimAsia’s exercise of 1,000,000 warrants to purchase common stock in March 2010 the term of
its remaining warrants was increased by three years.  This change in terms increased the underlying value of this warrant, based on a Black-Scholes valuation, and as a
result the Company charged $188,000 to other income and expense for this increase in value.
 

28



 
 
Provision for Taxes
 

The provision for taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2011 of $592,600 represents income taxes due on income of Erye net of utilization of the deferred tax
liability associated with amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Erye Merger of $179,700. In addition the tax provision also reflects the utilization of a deferred
tax liability of $75,000 associated with the amortization of intangible assets acquired in the acquisition of PCT.
 

The provision for taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2010 of $502,900 represents income taxes due on income of Erye and is net of utilization of the
deferred tax liability associated with amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Erye Merger of $60,600.
 
Dividends on Preferred Stock
 

The Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock calls for annual dividends of 7% based on the stated value of the preferred stock and for the three months
ended March 31, 2011 we recorded a dividend of $186,600. In the three months ended March 31, 2010 the Company recorded dividends of $99,700 on the Convertible
Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock which called for an annual dividend of 5% based on the stated value of the preferred stock. The Convertible Redeemable Series C
Preferred Stock was converted into NeoStem Common Stock in May 2010.
 
Noncontrolling Interests
 

In connection with accounting for the Company’s 51% interest in Erye, we account for the 49% minority shareholder share of Erye’s net income with a charge to
Noncontrolling Interests. For the three months ended March 31, 2011 Erye’s minority shareholders’ share of net income totaled approximately $660,500 in comparison
to $1,328,700 for the three months ended March 31, 2010.  In addition, the Company acquired rights to use patents under licenses from Becton, Dickinson and Company
in March 2011, in exchange for an approximately 20% interest in PCT’s Athelos subsidiary.   Noncontrolling interest also reflects BD’s share of losses incurred by
Athelos during the three months ended March 31, 2011 of $187,300.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

At March 31, 2011 we had a cash balance of $9,411,900, working capital of $9,488,600 and shareholders’ equity of $64,995,700.
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, we met our immediate cash requirements through existing cash balances, a private placement of our common stock
which raised approximately $3 million, the issuance of notes payable for our operations in China and the use of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for services
and compensation.
 

We incurred a net loss of $9,699,700 for the three months ended March 31, 2011. The following chart represents the net funds provided by or used in operating,
financing and investment activities for each period indicated:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2011   2010  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (10,195,100)  $ (2,581,800)
Net cash used in investing activities  $ (3,104,600)  $ (4,619,500)
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 7,080,500  $ 11,460,100 
 
Operating Activities
 

Our cash used for operating activities in the three months ended March 31, 2011 totaled $10,195,100, which is the sum of (i) our net loss, adjusted for non-cash
expenses totaling $6,549,100 which includes, principally, common stock, common stock options and common stock purchase warrants issued for services rendered and
charitable contribution in the aggregate amount of $2,626,300, depreciation and amortization of $2,203,700, the write-off of in process research and development of
$927,000, amortization of Preferred Stock discount and issuance cost of $676,100, and changes in fair value of derivative liability of $262,700; (ii) cash used to increase
inventories by $3,050,800; (iii) a reduction in accounts payables and accrued liabilities of $2,471,900; (iv) an increase in accounts receivable of $822,800; (v) a
reduction of $573,200 in advance payments and unearned revenues from customers; and (vi) increases in prepaids and payments of other assets of $125,800.
 
Investing Activities
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2011 we spent approximately $707,200 for property and equipment principally related to the construction of Eyre’s new
manufacturing facility. During the three months ended March 31, 2010 capital expenditures totaled approximately $3,764,200 of which the majority was spent for
construction of Erye’s new facility.  This plant is expected to be fully operational in 2011. Restricted cash increased approximately $2,625,300 in connection with the net
increase in notes payable of $5,010,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2011. In connection with the PCT acquisition we assumed $227,900 of
cash in PCT’s bank accounts.
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Financing Activities
 

The Company’s Erye subsidiary has $14,505,900 of notes payables as of March 31, 2011 and $9,451,500 of notes payable as of December 31, 2010. Notes are
payable to the banks who issue bank notes to Erye’s creditors. Notes payable are interest free and usually mature after a three to six months period.  In order to issue
notes payable on behalf of the Company, the banks required collateral, such as cash deposits which were approximately 30%-50% of the value of notes to be issued, or
properties owned by companies. At March 31, 2011, $6,024,500 of restricted cash was deposited as collateral for the balance of notes payable which was approximately
41.5% of the notes payable Erye issued, and the remainder of the notes payable is collateralized by pledging the land use right Erye owns.  The use of notes payable to
pay creditors is a feature of the money and banking system of China and we expect these types of notes to be a continuing feature of Erye’s capital structure.
 

In March 2011, Erye obtained a loan of approximately $1,522,000 from the China Merchants Bank with a variable interest rate that is currently 6.06% and is due in
September 2011. The interest rate is tied to People’s Bank of China benchmark rate; the maximum interest rate on the loan is 12.00%.
 

On March 3, 2011, the Company consummated a private placement pursuant to which five persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 2,343,750 shares of
Common Stock for an aggregate consideration of $3,000,000 (purchase price $1.28 per share). On April 5, 2011, we consummated a private placement pursuant to
which nine persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 1,244,375 shares of Common Stock for an aggregate consideration of $1,592,800 (purchase price $1.28 per
share), of which approximately $592,700 was received by the Company as of March 31, 2011.
 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Erye Joint Venture Agreement, dividend distributions to EET and our NeoStem subsidary will be made in proportion to
their respective ownership interests in Erye; provided, however, that for the three-year period commencing on the first day of the first fiscal quarter after the Joint
Venture Agreement became effective distributions are made as follows: for undistributed profits generated subsequent to the acquisition date: (i) the 49% of
undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will be distributed to EET and lent back to Erye to help finance costs in connection with its construction of
and relocation to a new facility; and (ii) of the net profit (after tax) of the joint venture due the Company, 45% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility
construction fund and will be characterized as additional paid-in capital for the Company’s 51% interest in Erye, and 6% will be distributed to the Company. For
undistributed profits generated prior to the acquisition date (i) the 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will be distributed to EET and lent
back to Erye to help finance costs in connection with its construction of and relocation to a new facility (ii) of the net profit (after tax) of the joint venture due the
Company, 51% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund and will be characterized as additional paid-in capital for the Company’s 51%
interest in Erye. In January 2011, a dividend totaling approximately $13,671,100 for Fiscal Year 2009 was declared and approximately $6,698,800 was distributed to
EET and lent back to Erye and approximately $6,972,300 due the Company was re-characterized as additional paid-in capital and reinvested in the business. As of
March 31, 2011 these loans due EET totaled $14,708,100 plus accrued interest of $787,100. The loan calls for interest to accrue at rate of 5.81% annually.
 

In connection with the Company’s focus on the development of proprietary cellular therapies through its Cell Therapy – United States segment, the Company has
certain financial obligations in connection with the development of specified licensed technology.  Athelos is pursuing the development of T regulatory cells (TRegs) as
a therapeutic to treat disorders of the immune system under certain patent rights licensed from the University of Pennsylvania and ExCell Therapeutics, LLC.  Under a
license agreement with the University of Louisville Research Foundation (“ULRF”), the Company is developing the VSEL Technology.  These licensing arrangements
require the Company to make various payments in connection with the development of the products, including certain upfront payments, payments for patent filings and
related applications, payments in connection with milestones achieved in the development of the products, royalties on sales and certain other related payments.  The
Company anticipates that in connection with its focus on the development of proprietary cellular therapies other licensing agreements with comparable terms may be
entered into.
 
Liquidity and Capital Requirements Outlook
 

With our acquisition of a controlling interest in Erye and expansion into China, and our acquisition of PCT, we have transitioned from being a one-dimensional U.S.
service provider with nominal revenues to being a multi-dimensional international biopharmaceutical company with current revenues and operations in three distinct
segments: (i) Cell Therapy — United States; (ii) Regenerative Medicine — China; and (iii) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing — China. The following is an overview of
our collective liquidity and capital requirements.
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Capital Requirements and Resources in China
 

Erye is constructing a new pharmaceutical manufacturing facility and began transferring its operations in January 2010. The relocation is continuing as the new
production lines are completed and receive cGMP certification through 2011. In January 2010, Eyre received notification that the SFDA approved Erye’s application for
cGMP certification to manufacture solvent crystallization sterile penicillin and freeze dried raw sterile penicillin at the new facility, which provides for 50% to 100%
greater manufacturing capacity, than its existing facility. Historically these lines accounted for 20% of Erye’s sales. In June 2010, Erye passed the government
inspection by the SFDA to manufacture penicillin and cephalosporin powder at the new facility. The facility is fully operational with respect to these lines. Erye has now
relocated 90% of its 2010 sales capacity to the new facility. The new facility is estimated to cost approximately $38 million, of which approximately $35.3 million has
been incurred through March 31, 2011. Construction has been and will continue to be self-funded by Erye and EET, the holder of the minority joint venture interest in
Erye. We have agreed for a period of approximately another two years to reinvest in Erye approximately 90% of the net earnings we would be entitled to receive under
the Joint Venture Agreement by reason of our 51% interest in Erye.
 

We are also engaged in other initiatives to expand our operations into China including with respect to technology licensing, establishment of stem cell processing
and storage capabilities and research and clinical development. In June 2009 we established NeoStem (China) as our wholly foreign-owned subsidiary or WFOE. To
comply with PRC’s foreign investment regulations regarding stem cell research and development, clinical trials and related activities, we conduct our current stem cell
business in the PRC through domestic variable interest entities (“VIEs”). We have incurred and expect to continue to incur substantial expenses in connection with our
China activities.
 

We expect to rely partly on dividends paid to us by the WFOE under the contracts with the VIEs, and under the Joint Venture Agreement attributable to our 51%
ownership interest in Erye, to meet some of our future cash needs. However, there can be no assurance that the WFOE in China will receive payments uninterrupted or at
all as arranged under the contracts with the VIEs. In addition, pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement that governs the ownership and management of Erye, for 2010
and approximately the next two years: (i) 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) will be distributed to EET and loaned back to Erye for use in connection with its
construction of the new Erye facility; (ii) 45% of the net profit after tax due to the Company will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund, which
will be characterized as additional paid-in capital for our 51% interest in Erye; and (iii) only 6% of the net profit will be distributed to us directly for our operating
expenses. The net assets of Erye at March 31, 2011 were $74,807,000.
 

The payment of dividends by entities organized under PRC law to non-PRC entities is subject to limitations. Regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of
dividends by our WFOE and Erye only out of accumulated distributable earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with accounting standards and regulations in
China. Moreover, our WFOE and Erye are required to appropriate from PRC GAAP profit after tax to other non-distributable reserve funds. These reserve funds include
one or more of the following: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bonus and welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative limits (i.e.,
50% of the registered capital of the relevant company), the general reserve fund requires annual appropriation at 10% of after tax profit (as determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at each year-end); the appropriation to the other funds are at the discretion of WFOE and Erye. In addition, if Erye incurs debt
on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict Erye’s or the joint venture’s ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us.
This may diminish the cash flow we receive from Erye’s operations, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.
 

Our interests in China are subject to China’s rules and regulations on currency conversion. In particular, the initial capitalization and operating expenses of the VIEs
are funded by our WFOE. In China, the State Administration for Foreign Exchange, or the SAFE, regulates the conversion of the Chinese Renminbi into foreign
currencies. Currently, foreign investment enterprises are required to apply to the SAFE for Foreign Exchange Registration Certificates, or IC Cards of Enterprises with
Foreign Investment. Foreign investment enterprises holding such registration certificates, which must be renewed annually, are allowed to open foreign currency
accounts including a “basic account” and “capital account.” Currency translation within the scope of the “basic account,” such as remittance of foreign currencies for
payment of dividends, can be effected without requiring the approval of the SAFE. However, conversion of currency in the “capital account,” including capital items
such as direct investments, loans, and securities, require approval of the SAFE. According to the  Notice of the General Affairs Department of the State Administration of
Foreign Exchange on the Relevant Operating Issues Concerning the Improvement of the Administration of Payment and Settlement of Foreign Currency Capital of
Foreign-invested Enterprises  promulgated on August 29, 2008, or the SAFE Notice 142, to apply to a bank for settlement of foreign currency capital, a foreign invested
enterprise shall submit the documents certifying the uses of the RMB funds from the settlement of foreign currency capital and a detailed checklist on use of the RMB
funds from the last settlement of foreign currency capital. It is stipulated that only if the funds for the settlement of foreign currency capital are of an amount not more
than US$50,000 and are to be used for enterprise reserve, the above documents may be exempted by the bank. This SAFE Notice 142, along with the recent practice of
Chinese banks of restricting foreign currency conversion for fear of “hot money” going into China, have limited and may continue to limit our ability to channel funds to
the VIE entities for their operation. We are exploring options with our PRC counsels and banking institutions in China as to acceptable methods of funding the operation
of the VIEs, but there can be no assurance that acceptable funding alternatives will be identified.
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Neither Erye nor our other expansion activities into China are expected to generate sufficient excess cash flow to support our platform business or our initiatives in
China in the near term.
 

Once Erye has completed the transfer of operations to the new facilities, and its new production lines are fully operational, it will have substantially increased
capacity from the current plant, with the goal of becoming among the largest antibiotics producers in Eastern China. Such dominant market position should allow us to
take advantage of the expected growth and spending in this segment of the market. We recognize that there will be continuous price pressure on Erye as over 70% of
Erye’s manufactured drugs are on the essential drug list. There has recently been evidence of such price pressure – i.e., on March 2, 2011 the National Development and
Reform Commission issued price cuts for medical insurance drugs which substantially impacts two of Erye’drugs. We anticipate that Piperacillin Sodium Sulbactam
Sodium will experience as much as a 50% price decline while the price of Ligustrazine Phosphate may be reduced by approximately 75%. As of March 31, 2011 the
price reduction experienced by Erye on these products was less than 10%.  In 2010 Piperacillin Sodium Sulbactum Sodium accounted for approximately 5% of sales and
Ligustrazine Phosphate accounted for approximately 2% of sales.
 
 
Capital Requirements for Recent Expansion
 

NeoStem, Inc. acquired Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC (“PCT”), by means of a merger (the “PCT Merger”) of a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of
NeoStem, with and into PCT pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 23, 2010 (the “PCT Agreement and Plan of Merger”).
 

Pursuant to the terms of the PCT Agreement and Plan of Merger, all of the membership interests of PCT outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the
PCT Merger (the “Effective Time”) were converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate, 10,600,000 shares of the common stock of NeoStem and, subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions as to 1,000,000 shares, warrants to purchase 3,000,000 shares of NeoStem Common Stock. Immediately after the PCT Merger closed,
the Company made a payment of $3,000,000 to repay certain indebtedness owed by PCT.
 
Liquidity
 

We anticipate that we will take further steps to raise additional capital in order to (i) fund the development of advanced cell therapies in the U.S. and China, (ii)
expand the PCT business and (iii) build the family banking business to meet our short and long term liquidity needs.  We currently expect to fund the anticipated
expansion of our operating activities through a variety of means that could include, but not be limited to, the use of existing cash balances, the use of our current or other
equity lines,  potential additional warrant exercises (including availing ourselves under appropriate circumstances of the redemption rights we possess under the majority
of our outstanding warrants), option exercises, the 6% of net profits to which we are entitled from Erye, issuances of other debt or equity securities in public or private
financings, sale of assets  and/or, ultimately, the growth of our revenue generating activities.  In addition, we will continue to seek as appropriate grants for scientific and
clinical studies from the National Institutes of Health, Department of Defense, and other governmental agencies and foundations, but there can be no assurance that we
will be successful in obtaining such grants. As the Company grows, it may no longer be eligible for SBIR grants.  We also review and consider from time to time
restructuring activities, including the potential divestiture of assets.  In this regard, we are currently exploring the possibility of selling our 51% ownership interest in
Erye and are engaging financial advisors to assist us, although no determination has yet been made to do so.
 

While we continue to seek capital through a number of means, there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and
our negotiating position in capital generating efforts may worsen as existing resources are used.  Additional equity financing may be dilutive to our stockholders; debt
financing, if available, may involve significant cash payment obligations and covenants that restrict our ability to operate as a business, our stock price may not reach
levels necessary to induce option or warrant exercises, and asset sales may not be possible on terms we consider acceptable.  If we are unable to raise the funds necessary
to meet our long-term liquidity needs, we may have to delay or discontinue the acquisition and development of cell therapies, and/or the expansion of our business or
raise funds on terms that we currently consider unfavorable.
 

At March 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalents of $9,411,900 and restricted cash totaling $6,403,400. The trading volume of our common stock, coupled with
our history of operating losses and liquidity challenges, may make it difficult for us to raise capital on acceptable terms or at all. The demand for the equity and debt of
small cap biopharmaceutical companies like ours is dependent upon many factors, including the general state of the financial markets. During times of extreme market
volatility, capital may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain such additional capital on acceptable terms could materially and adversely
affect our business operations and ability to continue as a going concern.
 
 

32



 
 

The following table reflects a summary of NeoStem’s contractual cash obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2011 (in thousands):
 
  Total   Less than 1 Year   1-3 Years   3-5 Years   More than 5 Years  
Employment Agreements  $ 3,759.6  $ 2,252.9  $ 1,506.6  $ -  $ - 
Facility Leases   2,275.4   1,532.4   719.0   24.0   - 
Equipment Leases   755.2   280.4   397.6   52.0   25.2 
License Fees   170.0   50.0   60.0   60.0   - 
Sponsored Research Agreements   237.4   237.4   -   -   - 
Consulting Agreements   2,783.4   1,754.3   945.9   83.3   - 
Design & Construction of Laboratory   80.5   80.5   -   -   - 
Series E Preferred Stock(1)   11,633.8   4,621.3   7,012.5   -   - 
  $ 21,695.3  $ 10,809.2  $ 10,641.6  $ 219.3  $ 25.2 
 

(1) Amounts include dividends.
 
SEASONALITY
 
NeoStem does not believe that its operations are seasonal in nature.
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
 
NeoStem does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements
 
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as well as
historical information. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from anticipated results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, statements that are not statements of current or historical fact may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the words “plan,” “intend,” “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “could,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” or “continue” or
similar expressions or other variations or comparable terminology are intended to identify such forward-looking statements, although some forward-looking statements
are expressed differently. Additionally, statements regarding our ability to successfully develop, integrate and grow the business at home and abroad, including with
regard to our research and development efforts in cellular therapy, our adult stem cell and umbilical cord blood collection, processing and storage business, contract
manufacturing and process development of cellular based medicines, and the pharmaceutical manufacturing operations conducted in China, the future of regenerative
medicine and the role of stem cells in that future, the future use of stem cells as a treatment option and the role of VSELTM Technology in that future and the potential
revenue growth of such businesses, are forward-looking statements. Our future operating results are dependent upon many factors and our further development is highly
dependent on future medical and research developments and market acceptance, which is outside our control.
 

Forward-looking statements may not be realized due to a variety of factors and we cannot guarantee their accuracy or that our expectations about future events will
prove to be correct. Such factors include, without limitation, (i) our ability to manage the business despite operating losses and cash outflows; (ii) our ability to obtain
sufficient capital or strategic business arrangements to fund our operations and expansion plans, including meeting our financial obligations under various licensing and
other strategic arrangements and the successful commercialization of the relevant technology; (iii) our ability to build the management and human resources and
infrastructure necessary to support the growth of the business; (iv) our ability to integrate our acquired businesses successfully and grow such acquired businesses as
anticipated; (v) whether a large global market is established for our cellular-based products and services and our ability to capture a share of this market; (vi) competitive
factors and developments beyond our control; (vii) scientific and medical developments beyond our control; (viii) our ability to obtain appropriate governmental
licenses, accreditations or certifications or comply with healthcare laws and regulations or any other adverse effect or limitations caused by government regulation of the
business; (ix) whether any of our current or future patent applications result in issued patents and our ability to obtain and maintain other rights to technology required or
desirable for the conduct of our business; (x) whether any potential strategic benefits of various licensing transactions will be realized and whether any potential benefits
from the acquisition of these licensed technologies will be realized; (xi) factors regarding our business and initiatives in China and, generally, regarding doing business
in China, including through our variable interest entity structure, including (a) costs related to funding these initiatives, (b) the successful application under Chinese law
of the variable interest entity structure to the Company’s business, which structure the Company is relying on to conduct its business in China, (c) the ability to integrate
the Company and the business operations in China successfully and grow such integrated businesses as anticipated, and (d) the need for outside financing to meet capital
requirements; and (xii) the other factors discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the other factors discussed in “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report
on form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 under the heading “Part I – Item 1A. Risk Factors” and in other periodic Company filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available for review at www.sec.gov under “Search
for Company Filings.”
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All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these and other factors. Readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
 
ITEM 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
 
Not applicable to smaller reporting companies.
 
ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
(a)  Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Disclosure controls and procedures are the Company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Due to the inherent limitations of control systems, not all misstatements
may be detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple
error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of
the control. Controls and procedures can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the above objectives have been met.
 

As of the end of the Company’s quarter ended March 31, 2011 covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective, at the reasonable assurance level, in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 

The following material weakness had been identified by management in connection with its assessment as of December 31, 2010, which as of March 31, 2011 the
Company has concluded has been fully remediated.  The Company had determined that it had a material weakness in its accounting for share-based payment
arrangements as a result of errors identified with respect to the Company’s accounting for awards to employees and non-employees. Such errors were the result of
ineffective controls primarily related to the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. With respect to both employee and non-
employee awards, the Company did not timely evaluate the impact of modifications to certain awards and the effect such modifications had, if any, on recognized
compensation expense. With respect to non-employee awards, the Company was not consistently subjecting such awards to re-measurement at each reporting period
consistent with the guidance in ASC 505-50,  Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees.  With respect to awards to employees, the expected life used in valuing such
awards previously was based on the contractual term of the options rather than through the use of the “simplified” method, as prescribed by the SEC under Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 110, which the Company had determined to be more appropriate given its limited historical experience with respect to option exercises. In
addition, certain employee awards that contain performance conditions were not appropriately evaluated and accounted for in determining whether or not the underlying
performance conditions were probable of being achieved. Expense associated with certain awards was initially recognized on a graded vesting basis rather than a
straight-line basis consistent with the Company’s accounting policy.
 

The Company had taken steps during 2010 to remediate this weakness, including (1) the adoption of the “simplified” method for estimating the expected term of
share-based awards issued to employees; (2) undertaking a complete review of all share-based payment transactions with non-employees to ensure that the appropriate
re-measurement considerations were taken into account and were reflected in the financial statements appropriately; (3) the organization of an internal management
committee which meets at least quarterly and consists of senior members of the accounting and legal departments, as well as the CEO, to review share-based awards
with performance conditions to assess the probability of the performance conditions being achieved; and (4) the implementation of a new share-based management
system which will integrate the administration and accounting for the Company’s share-based payment arrangements, which is expected to be fully implemented in the
second quarter of 2011. The adjustments that were recorded to correct the Company’s share-based compensation charges for the weaknesses noted above were not
material to its financial position or results of operations for any period during 2010 and 2009.
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In its assessment of internal control over financing reporting as of March 31, 2011, the Company has concluded that the above material weakness has been fully
remediated.
 
(b)  Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15, that occurred during
the Company’s last fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. The Company regularly reviews its system of internal controls over financial reporting and makes changes to its processes and systems to
improve controls and increase efficiency, while ensuring that the Company maintains an effective internal control environment. Changes include such activities as
implementing new, more efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes, as well as utilizing the services of third party consultants to ensure
compliance, which the Company has done as a result of the acquisition of Erye.
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NEOSTEM, INC.

PART II
 

OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
There are no material changes to the disclosures provided in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 
There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.
See the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 under “Item 1A - Risk Factors.”

ITEM 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
As previously reported, and as follows:
 
Effective April 1, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant pursuant to which this consultant was retained to consult, assist and advise the
Company with regard to various corporate development and investor communications related activities.  In consideration for providing services under this agreement, in
addition to certain specified cash consideration, the Company agreed to issue to this consultant 30,000 shares of Restricted Common Stock, vesting as to one-half upon
NYSE Amex approval (May 6, 2011) and one half on October 8, 2011.
 
The offer and sale of the securities described above were made in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided by Section 4 (2) of the Securities Act, for
transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering.  The offer and sale of such securities were made without general solicitation or advertising to an “accredited
investor,” as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act.
 
ITEM 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 
None

ITEM 4.  REMOVED AND RESERVED

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 
None

ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS
 
(a) Exhibits
 
Exhibit  Description  Reference
10.1  Sublease dated as of May 5, 2011 between NeoStem, Inc. and Seaside Therapeutics*  10.1
     
10.2  Escrow Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2011, among NeoStem, Inc., Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, Andrew Pecora as

PCT Representative and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Escrow Agent (1)
 10.4

     
10.3  Stock Purchase and Assignment Agreement dated March 28, 2011, by and among Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, Athelos

Corporation and Becton Dickinson and Company*+
 10.3

     
10.4  Stockholders’ Agreement dated March 28, 2011, by and among Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, Athelos Corporation and

Becton Dickinson and Company*
 10.4

     
 
10.5

 Consigned Management and Technology Service Agreement dated May 14, 2011 among Tianjin Niou Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd., NeoStem (China), Inc. and The Shareholder of Tianjin Niou Biotechnology Co., Ltd.*

 10.5
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10.6  Equity Pledge Agreement dated May 14, 2011 among Tianjin Niou Biotechnology Co., Ltd., NeoStem (China), Inc. and The

Shareholder of Tianjin Niou Biotechnology Co., Ltd.*
 10.6

     
10.7  Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement dated May 14, 2011 among Tianjin Niou Biotechnology  Co., Ltd., NeoStem (China),

Inc. and The Shareholder of Tianjin Niou Biotechnology Co., Ltd.*
 10.7

     
10.8  Loan Agreement dated May 14, 2011 between NeoStem (China), Inc. and The Shareholder of Tianjin Niou Biotechnology 

Co., Ltd.*
 10.8

     
10.9  Amendment dated April 4, 2011 to Employment Agreement dated May 26, 2006 between NeoStem, Inc. and Dr. Robin L.

Smith (2)
 10.66

     
10.10  Employment Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2010 and effective on January 19, 2011, by and between Progenitor Cell

Therapy, LLC, NeoStem, Inc. and Andrew L. Pecora (1)
 10.1

     
10.11  Employment Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2010 and effective on January 19, 2011, by and between Progenitor Cell

Therapy, LLC, NeoStem, Inc. and Robert A. Preti (1)
 10.2

     
10.12  Employment Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2011 and effective on March 4, 2011, by and between NeoStem, Inc. and

Jason Kolbert (2)
 10.86

     
10.13  Consulting Agreement, effective March 8, 2011, by and between NeoStem, Inc. and Acute Care Partners (2)  10.87
     
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*  31.1
     
31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*  31.2
     
32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**  32.1
     
32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**  32.2
 

*Filed herewith
**Furnished herewith
+The schedules to this agreement have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. NeoStem will furnish copies of any schedules to the
SEC upon request.
 
(1) Filed with the SEC on January 24, 2011, as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to our current report on Form 8-K dated January 18, 2011, which exhibit is

incorporated here by reference.
 
(2) Filed with the SEC as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, which exhibit is

incorporated here by reference.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.
 
 NEOSTEM, INC. (Registrant)  
    
 By: /s/ Robin Smith M.D.  
  Robin Smith M.D., Chief Executive Officer  
    
 Date: May 16, 2011  
 
    
 By: /s/ Larry A. May  
  Larry A. May, Chief Financial Officer  
    
 Date: May 16, 2011  
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STOCK PURCHASE AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

 
This STOCK PURCHASE AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), dated March 28, 2011, is entered into by and among BECTON, DICKINSON
AND COMPANY, a New Jersey corporation (“BD”), PROGENITOR CELL THERAPY, LLC. , a Delaware limited liability corporation (“PCT”) and ATHELOS
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”).  Each of BD, PCT and the Company are referred to individually as a “Party” and, together, as the
“Parties.”

WHEREAS, the Parties wish for BD and PCT to contribute certain third party intellectual property and related rights to the Company on the terms and conditions set
forth herein;

WHEREAS, in exchange for its contribution to the Company of such third party intellectual property and related rights on the terms and conditions, the
Company has agreed to issue and BD has agreed to accept, one hundred ninety nine (199) shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Shares”) on the terms and
conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, in anticipation of the aforementioned contributions of property and in consideration for its services related to the formation and establishment of the
Company, the Company previously issued eight hundred one (801) shares of Common Stock of the Company to PCT.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements herein set forth, the Parties hereto agree as follows:
 
1.           Transactions; Deliveries.
 

( a )           Sale of Shares; Stockholders’ Agreement.  In consideration for the BD Assigned IP Rights, the Company hereby sells and BD hereby
purchases the Shares subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.   BD shall have certain anti-dilution rights and the right to appoint a non-voting
observer to the Board of Directors of the Company as set forth in the Stockholders Agreement, dated of even date herewith, by and among the Company, BD and PCT
(the “Stockholders’ Agreement”).  Upon execution of this Agreement and the Stockholders’ Agreement by BD and the Company, the Company shall deliver to BD a
certificate representing the Shares (the “Certificate”).
 

(b)           Assignment of Intellectual Property Rights.
 

(i)           Prior to, or simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, BD shall obtain and provide to the Company all necessary consents to
assign BD’s licensed patent rights and other intellectual property rights and other related rights, obligations and interest in and under the agreements described on
Schedule A as the “ExCell Intellectual Property Rights and Related Rights and Obligations” and the “U. Penn Intellectual Property Rights and Related Rights and
Obligations” (the ExCell Intellectual Property Rights and Related Rights and Obligations together with the U. Penn Intellectual Property Rights and Related Rights and
Obligations are referred to collectively herein as the “BD Assigned IP Rights”) from each of ExCell Therapeutics, LLC (“ExCell”), David A. Horowitz, M.D., The
University of Pennsylvania (“U. Penn”) and the University of Southern California (“USC”).  BD hereby represents and warrants that it has all consents required of each
of ExCell, Dr. Horowitz, U. Penn and USC, as applicable and hereby irrevocably bargains, sells, grants, conveys, assigns, transfers, and delivers to the Company, and
the Company hereby irrevocably bargains, purchases, accepts and assumes all of BD’s licensed patent rights and other intellectual property rights and related rights,
obligations and interest in and under the BD Assigned IP Rights to have and hold, for itself and for its successors and assigns forever.
 
 

 



 
 

(ii)           PCT shall, within ninety (90) days of the date of this Agreement, use commercially reasonable efforts to irrevocably bargain, sell, grant,
convey, assign, transfer, and deliver to the Company, and the Company shall irrevocably bargain, purchase, accept and assume all of PCT’s licensed patent rights and
other intellectual property rights and related rights, obligations and interest in and under the agreements described on Schedule A as the “Life Technologies Intellectual
Property Rights and Related Rights and Obligations” (the “PCT Assigned Rights”) to have and hold, for itself and for its successors and assigns forever.
 

( c )           The Parties intend that the contributions of property to the Company by BD and PCT pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Agreement shall each
constitute a tax-free exchange under Section 351 of the Internal Revenue Code.
 

           (d)           Commercially Reasonable Efforts.                                                                Following the assignment and transfer of BD Assigned IP
Rights as set forth above, the Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to perform the activities set forth in Schedule B (the “Activities”).  Upon completion of
the Activities, the Company will progress to clinical trials in a timely manner.  In the event that the Company fails to use commercially reasonable efforts to perform the
Activities and does not address such failure within thirty (30) days of written notice from BD, BD may, at its option, request the Company to assign to it, in whole or in
part, the BD Assigned IP Rights.
 
2.           Acknowledgements.  BD hereby acknowledges and understands that:
 

(a)           In selling the Shares to BD, the Company is relying upon BD’s representation and warranty set forth herein that BD is an
accredited investor, as defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).
 

(b)           An investment in the Shares is speculative in nature and involves a high degree of risk and, therefore, BD is assuming a
substantial risk of its entire investment in the Company.
 

(c)           No federal or state agency has made any finding or determination as to the fairness of an investment in the Company, or any
recommendation or endorsement thereof.  BD acknowledges that the Company has made available to it at a reasonable time prior to its investment the opportunity to ask
questions and receive answers concerning the terms and conditions of BD’s investment and to obtain any additional information which the Company possesses or can
acquire without unreasonable effort or expense that is relevant to BD’s decision to make the investment.
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(d)           The Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act or any state securities law, and the Company has made no undertaking
to effect any such registration.  Accordingly, BD must bear the economic risk of the investment indefinitely because none of the Shares may be sold or otherwise
disposed of, and (without limiting any restrictions contained in the Certificate) the Company will not transfer any of the Shares on its books, unless such Shares are
subsequently registered under the Securities Act and any applicable state securities law or with the Company’s consent pursuant to the Stockholders’
Agreement.  Further, there is no present public market for the Shares and there can be no assurance that a market for the Shares or any other securities of the Company
will ever develop.
 

(e)           The certificate(s) evidencing the Shares will contain legends substantially as follows:
 

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND MAY NOT BE SOLD,
TRANSFERRED, MADE SUBJECT TO A SECURITY INTEREST, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF UNLESS AND UNTIL REGISTERED UNDER SAID ACT AND SUCH LAWS, OR AS OTHERWISE SET
FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT OF THE COMPANY, AS MAY BE AMENDED
FROM TIME TO TIME.  THE CORPORATION WILL FURNISH A COPY OF SAID STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT
TO THE HOLDER HEREOF UPON WRITTEN REQUEST AND WITHOUT CHARGE.

3.           Representations and Warranties of BD.  BD hereby represents and warrants that:
 

(a)           BD is duly incorporated and existing in the State of New Jersey and it has full power and authority, and has taken all corporate
action necessary, to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

(b)           This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of BD, enforceable against BD in accordance with its terms,
subject to the effect of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally.  The execution and delivery
of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not conflict with or result in any violation of or default under any provision of any
authorizing or governing document of BD, or any mortgage, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument, statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, order,
decree, permit, concession, grant, franchise or license applicable to BD.
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(c)           The Company has made available to BD all documents that BD has requested relating to the Company and has provided answers to
all of BD’s questions concerning BD’s investment.  BD is an “accredited investor” as defined in the Securities Act, has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial
and business matters to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Company, and has received adequate information regarding the Company
for purposes of evaluating the suitability of BD’s investment in the Company.
 

(d)           BD is acquiring the Shares for its own account for investment and not with a view to their resale or distribution.  BD has no need
for liquidity in this investment and is financially able to bear the economic risk of this investment, including the ability to hold the Shares indefinitely or to afford a
complete loss of BD’s investment in the Shares.
 

(e)           BD understands that, in the view of the Securities and Exchange Commission, a purchase now with a present intent to resell by
reason of a foreseeable specific contingency or any anticipated change in the market value, or in the condition of the Company, or that of the industry in which the
business of the Company is engaged or in connection with a contemplated liquidation, or in the settlement of any loan obtained by the undersigned for the acquisition of
the Shares, or for which such Shares may be pledged as security or as donations to religious or charitable institutions for the purpose of securing a deduction on an
income tax return would, in fact, represent a purchase with an intent inconsistent with BD’s representations to the Company.  The Securities and Exchange Commission
would then regard such sale as one for which no exemption from registration is available.
 

(f)           BD has provided or obtained all necessary notices to, or consents, authorizations or approvals of, any third party or governmental
authority that are required for the due execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the assignment of the BD Assigned IP
Rights, and no other notices, consents, authorizations or approvals of any third party or governmental authority are required for BD to execute and deliver this
Agreement.
 

(g)           BD possesses all necessary rights to hold and use the BD Assigned IP Rights and to assign them as contemplated by this
Agreement.  To the knowledge of BD, the BD Assigned IP Rights are free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim.
 

(h)           BD has not been the subject of any pending or, to the knowledge of BD, threatened legal proceedings which involve a claim of
infringement, misappropriation, unauthorized use or violation of any intellectual property rights of any third party or challenging BD’s use, validity or enforceability of
the BD Assigned IP Rights.  BD has not received notice of any such threatened claim and to the knowledge of BD, there are no facts or circumstances that would form
the basis for any such claim.  All of BD’s rights in and to BD Assigned IP Rights are valid and enforceable in all material respects.
 
(i)    The Company acknowledges that USC has indicated that, based on certain alleged breaches of the license agreement between USC and ExCell, that USC may have
a right to terminate such agreement with ExCell.  Notwithstanding any language to the contrary herein, BD is not making any representation or warranty as to any rights
by USC to terminate its license agreement with ExCell, the exercise of such rights by USC and the implications thereof to the License Agreement between ExCell and
BD referenced in Section B.1 of Schedule A, which is being assigned by BD to the Company hereunder.
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(j)           The Company further acknowledges that that USC consents to the assignment and assumption of the  License Agreement by and between ExCell Therapeutics,
LLC and Becton, Dickinson and Company, dated as of September 16, 2005, as amended August 31, 2007 on the terms set forth in the in the letter dated simultaneously
herewith, a copy of which is attached as Schedule C.
 
4.           Representations and Warranties of Company.
 
(a)           The Company is duly incorporated and existing in the State of Delaware and it has full power and authority, and has taken all corporate action necessary, to
execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
 
(b)           This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to
the effect of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally.  The execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not conflict with or result in any violation of or default under any provision of any
authorizing or governing document of the Company, or any mortgage, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument, statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation,
judgment, order, decree, permit, concession, grant, franchise or license applicable to the Company.
 
5.           Representations and Warranties of PCT.
 
(a)           PCT is duly incorporated and existing in the State of Delaware and it has full power and authority, and has taken all corporate action necessary, to execute and
deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
 
(b)           This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of PCT, enforceable against PCT in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not conflict with or result in any violation of or default under any provision of any authorizing or
governing document of PCT, or any mortgage, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument, statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, order, decree,
permit, concession, grant, franchise or license applicable to PCT.
 
6.           Indemnification.
 
( a )           By BD.  BD hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees, agents and
representatives (each a “Company Indemnified Party”) from and against all demands, claims, actions or causes of action, litigation, assessments, judgments, damages,
liabilities, reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses, interest, and penalties (collectively “Damages”), resulting to, imposed upon or incurred by a Company Indemnified
Party by reason of or resulting from: (i) a breach of any representation or warranty of BD set forth in this Agreement, including, without limitation with respect to the
BD Assigned IP Rights; and (ii) any failure of BD to perform or observe any covenant or obligation of BD set forth in this Agreement.
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( b )           By the Company.  The Company hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless BD, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees, agents and
representatives (each a “BD Indemnified Party”) from and against all Damages resulting to, imposed upon or incurred by a BD Indemnified Party by reason of or
resulting from: (i) a breach of any representation or warranty of the Company set forth in this Agreement; and (ii) any failure of the Company to perform or observe any
covenant or obligation of the Company set forth in this Agreement.
 
( c )           By PCT.  PCT hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Company Indemnified Party from and against all Damages resulting to, imposed
upon or incurred by a Company Indemnified Party by reason of or resulting from: (i) a breach of any representation or warranty of PCT set forth in this Agreement,
including, without limitation with respect to the PCT Assigned IP Rights; and (ii) any failure of PCT to perform or observe any covenant or obligation of PCT set forth
in this Agreement.
 
( d )           Indemnification Process.  Each Party shall give the other Party prompt written notice of any event or assertion of which such Party obtains knowledge
concerning any Damages and as to which a Party may request indemnification hereunder,  provided, however, that failure to give such notice will not affect the
indemnified Party’s rights furnished hereunder unless, and then solely to the extent that, the rights of the indemnifying Party are materially prejudiced as a result of such
failure.  The Parties shall cooperate with each other in determining the validity of any claim or assertion requiring indemnity hereunder and in defending against third
parties with respect to the same.  The defense of such litigation shall be within the control of the indemnifying Party; provided, however, that the indemnifying Party’s
choice of counsel shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Party seeking indemnification.  The indemnified Party may participate in the defense of any claim or assertion
requiring indemnity hereunder and, in such event, such Party shall cooperate fully in connection therewith.  If the indemnifying Party fails to perform any of its
obligations under this Section 5, then the other Party may directly assume the defense of the claim or assertion at issue, and the indemnifying Party shall promptly
reimburse the other Party for all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred in connection therewith.  The
Parties hereby agree not to settle or compromise any such third-party suit, claim or proceeding without prior written consent of the Party seeking indemnification, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 
7.           General
 
( a )           Further Assurances.  The Parties agree to execute any and all such other and further instruments and documents, and to take any and all such further actions,
reasonably required to effectuate this Agreement and the intent and purposes hereof.
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                                (b)           Governing Law; Venue.  The corporate law of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues and questions concerning the relative
rights of the Company and BD and PCT as stockholders therein.  All other issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, interpretation and enforcement of
this Agreement hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws,
and shall be binding upon BD’s legal representatives and permitted successors and assigns.  Any Party to this Agreement shall be entitled to bring an action to enforce
any provision of, or based on any right arising out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement, in any court having competent jurisdiction in the State of New
Jersey.  Each Party expressly agrees to waive any challenge to either jurisdiction or venue in any of the aforementioned courts.
 
( c )           No Assignment.  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.  Neither Party may
assign any rights, benefits, duties or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.  No third party shall be entitled to enforce any
provision hereof and no third party is intended to benefit from this Agreement.
 
( d )           Amendments and Waivers.  This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented except by a written instrument executed by the Parties.  No
provision of this Agreement may be waived except by an instrument in writing executed by the Party authorized to grant the waiver.  The waiver by either Party of a
breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach of the same or another provision.  No failure
on the part of either Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial
exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.
 
( e )           Notices.  All notices, requests, demands and other communications which are required or may be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
mailed via certified mail, return receipt requested, sent via a nationally-recognized overnight courier service or faxed.  All such notices shall be deemed to have been
duly given or made on the day of delivery (with delivery confirmed by such return receipt, courier service or fax transmission report).  All notices, requests and demands
are to be given or made to the parties at the addresses set forth herein or such other address specified in a notice given pursuant hereto as follows:
 

 If to the Company: Athelos Corporation
c/o Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC
4 Pearl Court, Suite C
Allendale, NJ 07401
Attention:   Robert A. Preti, Ph.D.
Facsimile:  (201) 996-9246

 If to BD: Becton Dickinson and Company
1 Becton Drive
Franklin Lakes, NJ 07410
Attention:  General Counsel
Facsimile:  (201) 848-8698
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 If to PCT: Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC
4 Pearl Court, Suite C
Allendale, NJ 07401
Attention:  Andrew Pecora, M.D.
Facsimile:  (201) 996-9246

 
A Party may change its address by notice given pursuant to this Section 7(e).

( f )           Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the documents referred to herein contain the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties with respect to
the transactions contemplated hereby and supersede all other agreements, understandings and undertakings between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.
 
( g )           Facsimile; Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed by either or both of the Parties via facsimile.  Facsimile transmissions of any executed original
document and/or retransmission of any executed facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be the same as the delivery of an executed original.  At the request of any
Party, the other Party shall confirm facsimile transmissions by executing duplicate original documents and delivering the same to the requesting Party.  This Agreement
may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but which, together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 
 
 
ATHELOS CORPORATION  BECTON, DICKINSON AND COMPANY  
      
By: /s/ Robert A. Preti

Robert A. Preti
 By: /s/ Robert Hallenbeck

Robert Hallenbeck
 

Its: President  Its: VP Advanced Bioprocessing  

 
PROGENITOR CELL THERAPY, LLC     
      
By: /s/ Andrew Pecora, M.D.

Andrew Pecora, M.D.
    

Its: Chief Medical Officer     
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STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT

This STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made as of March 28, 2011, by and among ATHELOS CORPORATION , a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”) PROGENITOR CELL THERAPY, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (“PCT”), and BECTON, DICKINSON AND COMPANY , a New
Jersey corporation (“BD”) (PCT and BD are referred to together as the “Stockholders,” and each as a “Stockholder”).

1.           Stockholders.  Each Stockholder holds shares of Common Stock of the Company (the “Shares”) in the amounts set forth on Exhibit A hereto, as may
be updated from time to time by the Company to include any additional Shares issued or transferred to either or both Stockholders.

2.           Transfers.  Until such time as the Shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or as expressly provided
in this Agreement, neither Stockholder shall sell, assign, transfer, give, bequeath, devise, donate or otherwise dispose of, or pledge, deposit or otherwise encumber, in
any way or manner whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary any legal or beneficial interest in any of the Shares now or hereafter owned (of record or beneficially)
by such Stockholder except with the prior written consent of the Company and following the Company’s receipt of a written opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory
to the Company that an exemption from such registration is available.

3.           Anti-Dilution Rights.

(a)           With respect to the first Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) of investment in the Company following the date hereof, BD shall have certain anti-dilution
rights as follows:

(i)           If the investment is by PCT, then, with respect to amounts up to and including the first Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) of investment from PCT,
the Shares owned by PCT (and BD) shall remain as set forth on Exhibit A as of the date first set forth above and neither PCT nor BD shall receive additional Shares or
other equity nor have its respective percentage ownership of the Company increase or decrease.  Instead, PCT shall have additional basis in its Shares as of the date
hereof in the amount of such additional capital.  With respect to amounts invested by PCT up to and including the next Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000), to the extent
that the total investment by PCT following the date of this Agreement has not exceeded Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000), BD shall be diluted proportionately,
provided, however, that the ownership of BD shall not be reduced to less than ten percent (10%) of the total Shares outstanding based on the additional investment.

(ii)           If the investment is by any third party other than PCT, then, with respect to amounts up to and including the first Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) of
such investment, the Stockholders shall be diluted proportionately, provided, however, that the ownership of BD shall not be reduced to less than ten percent (10%) of
the total Shares outstanding based on such third party investment.  If, based on the valuation used in such investment, such investment would otherwise dilute the
ownership of BD below such threshold, PCT shall transfer such number of its Shares to BD as necessary to maintain the ownership of BD at ten percent (10%) of the
issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock following the closing of such investment.
 
 

 



 

 
(b)           Once the Company has received a total of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) of investment following the date of this Agreement, whether from PCT

or any third parties, or a combination thereof, BD shall not have any special anti-dilution rights and all the Stockholders shall be diluted proportionately based on any
investment thereafter, except to the extent that the Stockholder(s) are participating in the investment.

4.           Board of Directors.

(a)           The number of the directors appointed to the Board shall be in accordance with the Bylaws of the Company, as may be amended from time to time.  In any
election of directors of the Company, the Stockholders shall vote such number of Shares then owned by them (or as to which they then have voting power) as may be
necessary to elect the individuals nominated by PCT to the Board.

(b)           BD shall have the right to appoint one non-voting observer (the “Observer”) who is entitled to observe the Board, and who shall receive notice of all board
meetings and copies of any materials as and when provided to the Board; provided, however, that the Company reserves the right to withhold any information or to
exclude the Observer from any meeting or portion thereof if the Company reasonably believes that withholding such information or excluding such representative is
necessary to preserve the attorney-client privilege between the Company and its counsel, to protect confidential or proprietary information or for other similar reasons, or
if BD or the Observer is a competitor of the Company, as determined by the Company in its reasonable discretion.  BD may, at anytime, and from time to time, remove
and replace the Observer by providing prior written notice to the Company.

5.           General.
 

(a)           Further Assurances.  The Company and the Stockholders each agree to execute any and all such other and further instruments and
documents, and to take any and all such further actions, reasonably required to effectuate this Agreement and the intent and purposes hereof.

           (b)           Governing Law; Venue.  The corporate law of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues and questions concerning the relative rights of the
Company and the Stockholders.  All other issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement hereto shall be
governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws, and shall be binding upon the
Company, the Stockholders and their legal representatives and permitted successors and assigns.  The Company and each Stockholder shall be entitled to bring an action
to enforce any provision of, or based on any right arising out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement, in any court having competent jurisdiction in the State
of New Jersey.  The Company and each Stockholder expressly agrees to waive any challenge to either jurisdiction or venue in any of the aforementioned courts.
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( c )           No Assignment.  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assignees.  Neither Party may
assign any rights, benefits, duties or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.  No third party shall be entitled to enforce any
provision hereof and no third party is intended to benefit from this Agreement.

( d )           Amendments and Waivers.  This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented except by a written instrument executed by the Company and
each of the Stockholders.  No provision of this Agreement may be waived except by an instrument in writing executed by the party authorized to grant the waiver.  The
waiver by any party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach of the same or
another provision.  No failure on the part of any party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor
shall any single or partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or
remedy.

( e )           Notices.  All notices, requests, demands and other communications which are required or may be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
mailed via certified mail, return receipt requested, sent via a nationally-recognized overnight courier service or faxed.  All such notices shall be deemed to have been
duly given or made on the day of delivery (with delivery confirmed by such return receipt, courier service or fax transmission report).  All notices, requests and demands
are to be given or made to the parties at the addresses set forth herein or such other address specified in a notice given pursuant hereto, with copies to the attorneys for
the respective parties, as follows:

 If to the Company: Athelos Corporation
c/o Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC
4 Pearl Court, Suite C
Allendale, NJ 07401
Attention:   Robert A. Preti, Ph.D.
Facsimile:  (201) 996-9246

 If to PCT: Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC
4 Pearl Court, Suite C
Allendale, NJ 07401
Attention:   Andrew Pecora, M.D.
Facsimile:  (201) 996-9246

 
 If to BD: Becton Dickinson and Company

1 Becton Drive
Franklin Lakes, NJ 07410
Attention:  General Counsel
Facsimile:  201-848-9228

 
 

3



 
 
Any party may change its address by notice given pursuant to this Section 5(e).

(f)           Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the documents referred to herein contain the entire agreement and understanding among the parties with respect to the
transactions contemplated hereby and supersede all other agreements, understandings and undertakings between the parties on the subject matter hereof.

( g )           Facsimile; Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties via facsimile.  Facsimile transmissions of any executed original
document and/or retransmission of any executed facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be the same as the delivery of an executed original.  This Agreement may be
executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Stockholders’ Agreement as of the date first above written.
 
 

 

ATHELOS CORPORATION

By /s/ Robert A. Preti
 
Name: Robert A. Preti
 
Title: President
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STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE
 
 

 

STOCKHOLDER:

PROGENITOR CELL THERAPY LLC

By /s/ Andrew Pecora, M.D
 
Andrew Pecora, M.D.
 
Title: Chief Medical Officer

 
 

 

STOCKHOLDER:

BECTON, DICKINSON AND COMPANY

By /s/ Robert M. Hallenbeck
 
Robert M. Hallenbeck
 
Title: Vice President, Advanced Bioprocessing
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EXHIBIT A

STOCKHOLDERS OF ATHELOS CORPORATION

Common Stock

STOCKHOLDER No. Shares of Common Stock Percentage Held

Progenitor Cell Therapy LLC 801 80.1%

Becton Dickinson & Company 199 19.9%
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Robin Smith, M.D., certify that:
 
1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeoStem, Inc.;
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by  this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: May 16, 2011
 
     
/s/ Robin Smith, M.D.     
Name: Robin Smith, M.D.     
Title: Chief Executive Officer of NeoStem, Inc.     
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION

 
I, Larry A. May, certify that:
 
1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeoStem, Inc.;
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by  this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: May 16, 2011
 
     
/s/ Larry A. May     
Name: Larry A. May     
Title: Chief Financial Officer of NeoStem, Inc.     
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NeoStem, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robin Smith, M.D., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company as of the dates presented and the

results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.
 
Dated:  May 16, 2011
 
    
  /s/ Robin Smith, M.D.  
  Robin Smith, M.D.  
  Chief Executive Officer  
 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of
Title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q or as a separate disclosure document.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NeoStem, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry A. May, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended ; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company as of the dates presented and the

results of operations of the Company for the periods presented.
 
Dated:  May 16, 2011
   
    
  /s/ Larry A. May  
  Larry A. May  
  Chief Financial Officer  
 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of
Title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q or as a separate disclosure document.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NeoStem, Inc. and will be retained by NeoStem, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 

 

 


